การศึกษาระดับเมทิเลชั่นของอะลู ในพาสเสจต่างๆของเซลล์ต้นกำเนิดเนื้อเยื่อในฟันมนุษย์



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย ค.....

บทคัดย่อและแฟ้มข้อมูลฉบับเต็มของวิทยานิพนธ์ตั้งแต่ปีการศึกษา 2554 ที่ให้บริการในคลังปัญญาจุฬาฯ (CUIR) เป็นแฟ้มข้อมูลของนิสิตเจ้าของวิทยานิพนธ์ ที่ส่งผ่านทางบัณฑิตวิทยาลัย

The abstract and full text of theses from the academic year 2011 in Chulalongkorn University Intellectual Repository (CUIR) are the thesis authors' files submitted through the University Graduate School.

วิทยานิพนธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งของการศึกษาตามหลักสูตรปริญญาวิทยาศาสตรมหาบัณฑิต สาขาวิชาศัลยศาสตร์ช่องปากและแม็กซิลโลเฟเชียล ภาควิชาศัลยศาสตร์ คณะทันตแพทยศาสตร์ จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย ปีการศึกษา 2559 ลิขสิทธิ์ของจุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

STUDY OF ALU METHYLATION LEVELS IN VARIOUS PASSAGES OF HUMAN DENTAL PULP STEM CELLS

Captain Atitaya Vongprommool



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science Program in Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery Faculty of Dentistry Chulalongkorn University Academic Year 2016 Copyright of Chulalongkorn University

Thesis Title	STUDY OF ALU METHYLATION LEVELS IN
	VARIOUS PASSAGES OF HUMAN DENTAL PULP
	STEM CELLS
Ву	Captain Atitaya Vongprommool
Field of Study	Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery
Thesis Advisor	Assistant Professor Keskanya Subbalekha, Ph.D.
Thesis Co-Advisor	Professor Apiwat Mutirangura, Ph.D.

Accepted by the Faculty of Dentistry, Chulalongkorn University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Master's Degree

_____Dean of the Faculty of Dentistry

(Assistant Professor Suchit Poolthong, Ph.D.)

THESIS COMMITTEE

_____Chairman

(Professor Prasit Pavasant, Ph.D.)

(Assistant Professor Keskanya Subbalekha, Ph.D.)

_____Thesis Co-Advisor

(Professor Apiwat Mutirangura, Ph.D.)

.....External Examiner

(Associate Professor Nakarin Kitkumthorn, Ph.D.)

อทิตยา วงศ์พร้อมมูล : การศึกษาระดับเมทิเลชั่นของอะลู ในพาสเสจต่างๆของเซลล์ต้น กำเนิดเนื้อเยื่อในฟันมนุษย์ (STUDY OF ALU METHYLATION LEVELS IN VARIOUS PASSAGES OF HUMAN DENTAL PULP STEM CELLS) อ.ที่ปรึกษาวิทยานิพนธ์หลัก: ผศ. ดร.เกศกัญญา สัพพะเลข, อ.ที่ปรึกษาวิทยานิพนธ์ร่วม: ศ. นพ. ดร.อภิวัฒน์ มุทิรางกูร, 71 หน้า.

เซลล์ต้นกำเนิดจากเนื้อเยื่อในฟันของมนุษย์ซึ่งได้จากเนื้อเยื่อในของฟันเป็นแหล่งหนึ่งของ เซลล์ต้นกำเนิดสำหรับเซลล์บำบัดและวิศวกรรมเนื้อเยื่อ การแก่ตัวของเซลล์ซึ่งส่งผลต่อศักยภาพใน การกำเนิดใหม่และการเจริญเป็นอุปสรรคหนึ่งที่พบในระหว่างการเพาะเลี้ยงเซลล์ต้นกำเนิดเนื้อเยื่อใน ฟันในห้องปฏิบัติการ ถึงแม้ว่าทั้งกลไกทางพันธุกรรมและกลไกเหนือพันธุกรรมนั้นมีส่วนใน กระบวนการแก่ แต่การศึกษาเกี่ยวกับกลไกเหนือพันธุกรรมที่เกี่ยวข้องนั้นยังมีค่อนข้างจำกัด มี รายงานว่าระดับเมทิเลชั่นของอะลูซึ่งเป็นการเปลี่ยนแปลงเหนือพันธุกรรมนั้นเกี่ยวข้องกับความชรา ของมนุษย์ งานวิจัยนี้ได้ทำการศึกษาระดับเมทิเลชั่นของอะลูในพาสเสจต่างๆของเซลล์ต้นกำเนิด เนื้อเยื่อในฟัน โดยใช้วิธีการวิเคราะห์คอมไบน์ใบซัลไฟต์เรสตริกชั่น รวมทั้งได้ทำการสังเกตสัณฐาน และความสามารถในการเพิ่มจำนวนเซลล์ต้นกำเนิดเนื้อเยื่อในฟันมนุษย์ในทุกพาสเสจ พบว่า เซลล์ต้น กำเนิดเนื้อเยื่อในฟันในพาสเสจท้ายแสดงความแก่ของเซลล์ เปลี่ยนแปลงทางสัณฐาน และมีระดับเมทิ เลชั่นของอะลูน้อยกว่าในพาสเสจต้นอย่างมีนัยสำคัญทางสถิติ ผลการศึกษาชี้ให้เห็นว่าระดับอะลูเมทิ เลชั่นอาจเกี่ยวข้องกับการแก่ตัวของเซลล์ต้นกำเนิดเนื้อเยื่อในฟันมนุษย์ ควรมีการศึกษาต่อไปเพื่อให้ เข้าใจถึงกระบวนการที่ควบคุมการแก่ตัวของเซลล์ต้นกำเนิดเนื้อเยื่อในฟันมนุษย์ เมตการจัดการที่เหมาะสม ในการนำเซลล์ต้นกำเนิดเนื้อเยื่อในฟันไปใช้ในการรักษาต่อไป

Chulalongkorn University

ภาควิชา	ศัลยศาสตร์	ลายมือชื่อนิสิต
สาขาวิชา	ศัลยศาสตร์ช่องปากและแม็กซิลโลเฟ	ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก
	เซียล	ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาร่วม
ปีการศึกษา	2559	

5775831632 : MAJOR ORAL AND MAXILLOFACIAL SURGERY

KEYWORDS: DENTAL PULP STEM CELL / ALU / METHYLATION / PASSAGE

ATITAYA VONGPROMMOOL: STUDY OF ALU METHYLATION LEVELS IN VARIOUS PASSAGES OF HUMAN DENTAL PULP STEM CELLS. ADVISOR: ASST. PROF. KESKANYA SUBBALEKHA, Ph.D., CO-ADVISOR: PROF. APIWAT MUTIRANGURA, Ph.D., 71 pp.

Human dental pulp stem cells (DPSCs) which can be isolated from pulpal tissue of tooth are being recognized as an alternative source of stem cells for cellbased therapies and tissue engineering. The replicative senescence which results in the alteration of regeneration and differentiation potential is an obstacle encountered during DPSCs culture in vitro. Although both genetic and epigenetic mechanism was found participating in the aging processes, the study in epigenetic mechanisms that involved with these biological processes of DPSCs is still very limited. Methylation level of Alu, an epigenetic alteration, was reported to be associated with human aging. In this study, the methylation level of Alu in different passages of DPSCs was studied by combined bisulfite restriction analysis. Moreover, the morphology and proliferation ability of human DPSCs were observed in every passages. We found that DPSCs in late passage showed replicative senescence, morphological change and had significant lower Alu methylation level than early passage. Our results suggest that Alu methylation level may involve in replicative senescence of DPSCs. Further study should be performed to clarify the mechanism controlling senescence of DPSCs in order to properly manipulation of DPSCs in therapeutic use.

Department:	Oral and Maxillofacial	Student's Signature
	Surgery	Advisor's Signature
Field of Study:	Oral and Maxillofacial	Co-Advisor's Signature
	Surgery	
Academic Year:	2016	

V

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would first like to express my deepest gratitude to my advisor, Assistant Professor Keskanya Subbahekha for her patience, motivation, enthusiasm, guidance and endless help that always light the way throughout the course of this program. Lots of good ideas, encouragement, sound advice and good teaching from her really inspired and help me.

In addition, I would like to show my sincere gratitude to Professor Apiwat Mutirangura, my co-advisor and Professor Prasit Pavasant who is my thesis chairman for their kindness suggestion, supervision, guidance and generous support. Their immense knowledge and insightful comments are really invaluable and help me to accomplish my thesis. Without their support and research laboratories, I would not be success.

I would like to thank my thesis committee members, Associate Professor Nakarin Kitkumthorn for his precious time and suggestion.

My sincere thanks also go to members of Mineralize Tissue Research Unit and Center of Excellence in Molecular Genetic of Cancer and Human Disease. You supported me, showed me lots of proper technique in lab performance and were always willing to help me

Finally, I would like to express my special thanks to my beloved family, friends and my colleagues in master's degree course for their caring, encouragement, support and company.

This study was financially supported by The 90th Anniversary of Chulalongkorn University Fund (Ratchadaphiseksomphot Endowment Fund).

CONTENTS

Page
THAI ABSTRACTiv
ENGLISH ABSTRACTv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSvi
CONTENTS
LIST OF FIGURESxi
LIST OF TABLES
CHAPTER I INTRODUCTION
Background and Rationale
Research Questions
Objectives
Hypothesis
Research Design
Expected Benefit
Research Methodology Framework
CHAPTER II REVIEWS AND RELATED LITERATURES
1. Human Stem Cells
1.1 Human Mesenchymal Stem Cells 6
1.2 Therapeutic uses of stem cells7
MSCs in tissue repair7
MSCs in immune disorder therapy8
1.3 Human dental pulp stem cells
1.4 Roles of DPSCs in regenerative therapies9

Page

Role in corneal reproduction
Role in myocardial infarction
Role of DPSCs in Ischemia
Role of DPSCs in muscular dystrophy
Role of DPSCs in neural repair10
DPSCs differentiation to Hepatocyte10
DPSCs considerations for Type 1 diabetes10
Role of DPSCs in bone regeneration
1.5 Clinical application of DPSCs11
2. Aging and Senescence
2.1 Theories in aging
2.2 The hallmarks of aging
2.2.1 Genomic Instability13
2.2.2 Telomere Attrition
2.2.3 Epigenetic Alterations
2.2.4 Loss of Proteostasis14
2.2.5 Deregulated Nutrient-Sensing14
2.2.6 Mitochondrial Dysfunction14
2.2.7 Cellular Senescence14
2.2.8 Stem Cell Exhaustion15
2.2.9 Altered Intercellular Communication
3. Adult stem cells and aging
4. Epigenetics

Page

ix

4.1 [DNA Methylation	17
5. Repet	itive Sequences	
5.1 l	nterspersed Repetitive Sequences and Transposable Elements	19
5.2 T	Types of Transposable Elements	20
	5.2.1 DNA transposons (Type II TEs)	20
	5.2.2 Retrotransposons (Type I TEs)	20
5.3 A	Alu elements	21
5.4 A	Association of Alu methylation levels	23
6. Stem	cell behavior and epigenetic regulations	24
CHAPTER II	I MATERIALS AND METHODS	26
Sample.		26
Sam	ple Selection	26
Sam Sam	ple size	26 26
Sam Sam Dental P	ple Selection ple size Pulp Stem Cells Isolation and Culture	26 26 28
Sam Sam Dental P Investiga	ple Selection ple size Pulp Stem Cells Isolation and Culture Ition of Morphological Changes	
Sam Sam Dental P Investiga MTT Cel	ple Selection ple size Pulp Stem Cells Isolation and Culture Ition of Morphological Changes I Proliferation Assays	
Sam Sam Dental P Investiga MTT Cel The Sen	ple Selection ple size Pulp Stem Cells Isolation and Culture ition of Morphological Changes I Proliferation Assays escence-Associated β-Galactosidase Assay	
Sam Sam Dental P Investiga MTT Cel The Sen DNA Extr	ple Selection ple size Pulp Stem Cells Isolation and Culture Ition of Morphological Changes I Proliferation Assays escence-Associated β-Galactosidase Assay	
Sam Sam Dental P Investiga MTT Cel The Sen DNA Extr Modifiec	ple Selectionple sizeple sizeple sizeple Stem Cells Isolation and Cultureple sizepulp Stem Cells Isolation and Cultureple of Morphological Changesple of Morphological Changesple scence-Associated β -Galactosidase Assayple combined Bisulfite Restriction analysis (COBRA)	
Sam Sam Dental P Investiga MTT Cel The Sen DNA Extr Modifiec 1.	ple Selection ple size Pulp Stem Cells Isolation and Culture ation of Morphological Changes I Proliferation Assays escence-Associated β-Galactosidase Assay raction I Combined Bisulfite Restriction analysis (COBRA) DNA denaturation and Sodium Bisulfite Treatment	
Sam Sam Dental P Investiga MTT Cel The Sen DNA Extr Modifiec 1. 2.	ple Selectionple sizeple sizeple Stem Cells Isolation and Cultureple sizeple Stem Cells Isolation and Cultureple scence Cells Isolation Changesple consistence Associated β -Galactosidase Assayple combined Bisulfite Restriction analysis (COBRA)ple Combined Bisulfite Restriction analysis (COBRA)ple DNA denaturation and Sodium Bisulfite Treatmentpolymerase Chain Reaction (PCR)	
Sam Sam Dental P Investiga MTT Cel The Sen DNA Extr Modifiec 1. 2. 3.	ple Selection ple size Pulp Stem Cells Isolation and Culture Ation of Morphological Changes I Proliferation Assays escence-Associated β-Galactosidase Assay raction Combined Bisulfite Restriction analysis (COBRA) DNA denaturation and Sodium Bisulfite Treatment Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR) Specific Restriction Enzyme Digestion	

Page

Statistical Analysis	35
CHAPTER IV RESULTS	36
Long-term Culture of DPSCs	36
Cell Proliferation and Doubling Time	37
Methylation level of Alu	38
Morphological Observation and The Senescence-Associated eta -Galactosidase	
Staining	48
CHAPTER V DISCUSSION	52
CHAPTER VI CONCLUSION	55
REFERENCES	56
VITA	71

จุหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

LIST OF FIGURES

	Page
Figure 1 Stem Cell Capacity.	5
Figure 2 Sources of Mesenchymal Stem Cells (MSCs) in Oral and Maxillofacial	
Region	6
Figure 3 The Hallmarks of Aging.	12
Figure 4 DNA Methylation Reaction Catalyzed by DNMT	17
Figure 5 The Organization of Human Genome	19
Figure 6 The Overall Classification of The Repetitive Sequences	21
Figure 7 The Illustration of The Basic Structure of Alu Element	23
Figure 8 Steps in COBRA	30
Figure 9 Reaction in Bisulfite Treatment	31
Figure 10 Polymerase Chain Reaction Cycle	32
Figure 11 COBRA Alu Amplicons	35
Figure 12 The Morphological Alteration of Long-term Cultured DPSCs	36
Figure 13 Correlation of Passage Number and Doubling Time.	38
Figure 14 Percentages of Overall Alu Methylation (%mC)	39
Figure 15 Percentage of Hypermethylation Alu (%mCmC)	40
Figure 16 Percentage of Hypomethylation Alu (%uCuC)	41
Figure 17 Percentage of Partial Methylated Alu (%uCmC).	42
Figure 18 Percentage of Partial Methylated Alu (%mCuC).	43
Figure 19 Mean of Overall Methylation Level (%mc).	44
Figure 20 Comparison of Overall Alu Methylation Level (%mC) among Groups	46
Figure 21 Comparison of each Alu Methylation Pattern Among Groups	47

Figure 22 Illustration of β -Galactosidase Staining on DPSCs in "Early Passage"	
Group	. 49
Figure 23 Illustration of ß-Galactosidase Staining on DPSCs in"Middle passage"	
Group	. 50
Figure 24 Illustration of ß-Galactosidase Staining on DPSCs in "Late Passage"	
Group	. 51



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1 The Alu methylation data from preliminary study	. 27
Table 2 Doubling time of DPSCs in each passage.	. 37
Table 3 Mean of overall Alu methylation level (%mC) in each passage of DPSCs	. 44
Table 4 Total passage numbers of each samples and the categorization	. 45
Table 5 The average Alu methylation level of each DPSCs group	. 46



, Chulalongkorn University

CHAPTER I

Background and Rationale

Stem cell has been a powerful tool for therapy of various disorders. The stem cell-based therapies and the tissue engineering have their potential to repair injured tissue, regenerate missing tissue and restore organ functions (1, 2) since their particular characteristics of proliferation, differentiation and plasticity (3-5). Stem cells can be isolated from many tissues and organs, including dental tissue which become an alternative source of stem cells due to their easy access and isolation (6). Human dental pulp stem cells (DPSCs), can be non-invasively obtained with very low morbidity from pulpal tissue of the tooth that need to be extracted or discarded including wisdom tooth (7). DPSCs have the potential to differentiate into several types of cell, including neurons, adipocytes, chondrocytes, osteoblasts, keratocytes or even insulin-producing cells (8-14). They have high proliferation rate and show typical fibroblast-like morphology with high clonogenic activity similar to the human bone-marrow derived stem cells (15, 16). They also express STRO-1, a mesenchymal stem cell surface marker, which is also present in bone-marrow derived stem cells (15). The variety of practicable differentiation potential leads DPSCs to be a future promising tool that plays important role in regenerative medicine especially in stem cells- based therapy, for example, in corneal reproduction (17), myocardial infarction (18, 19), ischemia (20), muscular dystrophy (21), neural repair (22, 23), hepatocyte reproduction (24, 25), insulin-producing cell production (26), and bone regeneration (27, 28).

Unfortunately, after an extent passage of cultures in vitro, DPSCs display some degrees of replicative senescence, stop to replicate and lose their differentiation potential (29). Liu et al. reported that DPSCs at the 7th passage changed in their morphology with enlarged cell size, irregular cell shape, increased nuclear/cytoplasm ration and decreased cell proliferation rate (30). Generally, proper cell differentiation and function are regulated by gene expression pattern (31-34) which is not only mediated by genetic events such as DNA sequence, but epigenetic regulatory processes also participate (35, 36).

Epigenetics refers to heritable changes in the genetic expression without any changing in the DNA sequences. Major epigenetic mechanisms including histone modifications, DNA methylation, and DNA acetylation have been related to gene regulation and other cellular processes including division and survival (37). DNA methylation is known to be associated with the regulation of many biological processes including genomic stability, long-term gene silencing (36, 38-40), parental genomic imprinting (41, 42), proper development (43-45) and gene expression (46). Each cell types has the unique pattern of methylation (47).

More than one-third of DNA methylation occurs in repetitive elements (48, 49). Interspersed repetitive sequences (IRSs) are a major contributor to human genome size (approximately 45 percentages of human DNA) (50, 51). IRSs can be categorized by their size and the association of transposable elements. Short interspersed elements (SINEs), long interspersed elements (LINEs), long terminal repeat (LTR)-retrotransposons, and DNA transposons are the commonly known IRSs (52). Among these elements, Alu is the most successful and abundant mobile elements (52-54), which the copy number is over a million and contributes to almost 11% of the human genome (55). Regarding to its richness in CpG residues, Alu is responsible for about 25% of all the methylation in genome (56).

Methylation of Alu varies in different tissues and appears to decrease in some tumors including familial breast cancer (57), HER2 enriched subtype of breast cancer (58), gastric cancer (59, 60), chronic lymphocytic leukemia (61), and nasopharyngeal cancer (62). The lower methylation level of Alu was reported in post-menopausal women with osteoporosis comparing to individuals with the same age and normal bone mass index (63). The catch-up-growth offsprings had higher methylation level of Alu comparing to non catch-up growth offsprings (64). A significant age-related loss of methylation was found in Alu (65, 66). Since the individual aging process are thought to be linked with cellular and stem cell aging (67), we hypothesized that the decreased Alu methylation level that found in aged individual might be found in aged DPSCs.

The purpose of this study is to investigate DNA methylation levels of Alu in DPSCs during multiple passages of cell culture. Moreover, the morphological changes and doubling time of DPSCs will be recorded during the expansion in vitro. The findings from this study will help us understand more about epigenetics involving aging of stem cell and may lead to efficiently application of these cells by maintaining their pluripotency property. Furthermore, understanding the underlying mechanisms of age-related decline in capacity of stem cells and mechanisms of Alu will help us gain better understanding of aging.

Research Questions

Do the methylation levels of Alu in human dental pulp stem cells change during expansion passages?

Objectives

To investigate the Alu methylation levels in varying passages of human dental pulp stem cells.

Hypothesis

Ho : There is no difference of Alu methylation levels in varying passages of human dental pulp stem cells.

Ha : Alu methylation levels from varying passages of human dental pulp stem cells are different.

Research Design

Descriptive analytical study

Expected Benefit

The finding will lead to a better understanding of biological process especially in epigenetic mechanisms that regulate stem cell behavior. The integration of knowledge from both epigenomics and genomics will help the researchers to appropriately manipulate, maintain proper characteristic of DPSCs in prolonged period of preservation in vitro, and precisely produce the cells they demand for the secure and effective application of these cells in therapeutic use. Further studies may open the new therapeutic approaches and drug development combining genetic and epigenetic strategies. Moreover, the information from this study may imply the connection between changes of Alu methylation level in individual and cellular aging process. Besides the better understanding of stem cell aging, the findings will help us gain better understanding of aging mechanism in organisms.



Research Methodology Framework

CHAPTER II

REVIEWS AND RELATED LITERATURES

1. Human Stem Cells

Stem cells are defined as unspecialized cells that possess the ability for selfrenewal without significant changes in their general properties and the ability for differentiation into at least one type of specialized descendant under certain condition (68).



Figure 1 Stem Cell Capacity.

Stem cells have the capacity for self-renewal and differentiation into specialized cell lineage.

The pluripotent embryonic stem cells (ES cells) were successfully isolated from the inner cell mass of embryos. Although their ability to differentiate into almost all cell lineages made them the most promising cells for regenerative medicine, their isolation brought ethical concerns. The induced pluripotent stem (iPS) cells which possess several properties similar to ES cells without ethical concerns were developed instead. However, both ES and iPS cells occupy the potential for teratoma formation which seriously compromise their utility, adult and mesenchymal stem cells which are free of ethical concern and teratoma formation had been widely developed.

Post-natal tissues contain reservoirs of specific stem cells that contribute to tissue maintenance and regeneration. Stem cells that isolated from adult tissues e.g., bone marrow, skin, skeletal muscle and gastrointestinal tract are known as adult or somatic or postnatal stem cells (68, 69).

1.1 Human Mesenchymal Stem Cells

Mesenchymal stem cell (MSC) or mesenchymal stromal cell was first isolated and characterized in 1974 by Friedenstein et al. (70). MSC is a subset of nonhematopoietic adult stem cells that originate from the mesoderm. MSCs are defined as plastic adherent cells, expressing a variety of surface markers, e.g., CD44, CD63, CD105, CD146, with the ability for in vitro self-renewal and multilineage differentiation into mesoderm, endoderm and ectoderm lineages. MSCs exist in almost all tissues and can be isolated from different tissue e.g., umbilical cord, bone marrow, adipose tissue, muscle, lung, and liver (69, 71, 72). Several MSC sources have been identified in oral and maxillofacial region including bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells (BMSCs), dental pulp stem cells (DPSCs), stem cells from human exfoliated deciduous teeth (SHEDs), periodontal ligament stem cells (PDLSCs), apical papilla, dental follicle stem cells (DFSCs), tooth germ progenitor cells (TGPCs), stem cells from the apical papilla (SCAPs), oral epithelial progenitor/stem cells (OESCs), gingiva-derived mesenchymal stem cells (GMSCs), periosteum-derived stem cells (PSCs), salivary gland-derived stem cells(SCSCs) (73, 74). (figure 2)



Figure 2 Sources of Mesenchymal Stem Cells (MSCs) in Oral and Maxillofacial Region. Sources of MSC in oral and maxillofacial region include bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells (BMSCs), dental pulp stem cells (DPSCs), stem cells from human exfoliated deciduous tooth (SHEDs), periodontal ligament stem cells (PDLSCs), dental follicle stemcells (DFSCs), tooth germ progenitor cells (TGPCs), stem cells from the apical papilla (SCAPs), oral epithelial progenitor/ stem cells (OESCs), gingiva-derived mesenchymal stem cells (GMSCs), periosteum-derived stem cells (PSCs), salivary gland-derived stem cells (SGSCs) (73).

1.2 Therapeutic uses of stem cells

Human tissues have different regenerative properties. For examples: epithelia can repair any defects after an injury and regenerate themselves all life long, bone or cartilage can regenerate limited defects and in particular conditions, myocardium or neural tissues do not show this ability. Therefore stem cells, which possess the extensive proliferation and differentiation plasticity, are theoretically a promising tool for tissue regeneration and repair of injured tissues. Stem cells-based therapy, a sub-type of regenerative medicine, is the process of introducing stem cells into tissue to treat a disease (3).

An obstacle of the therapeutic use of stem cells is the identification of accessible sites where an adequate amount of stem cells can be collected. The surgical access to the collection site remains a limiting point, due to the morbidity of the site itself. Nevertheless, the selected site must contain a high percentage of stem cells per total volume of the collected tissue to avoid an excessive weakening of the organ. At present, the use of an autologous stem cell is the golden standard of stem cell-based therapy because homologous stem cells transplantation need immunosuppression and can cause pathogen transmission.

MSCs in tissue repair

Several clinical and preclinical studies of MSCs on reparative effects strongly suggested that MSCs play a critical role in healing process and are effective in the treatment of tissue injury or degenerative diseases. They are thought to be responsible for wound healing, growth, and replacing the lost cells.

Autologous bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells improved the clinical indices of liver function in patients with liver cirrhosis and liver failure caused by hepatitis B (75, 76). They showed the effectiveness in regeneration of diabetic critical limb ischemia and burn-induced skin defects (77, 78). They are also effective in treating cornea damage(79) and myocardial infarction (80) in preclinical studies. Similar outcome has been reported for MSCs in treating various tissue injuries including brain, spinal cord and lung (81, 82).

MSCs in immune disorder therapy

MSCs are able to suppress inflammation and reduce kidneys and bowel damage in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus and Crohn's disease (83, 84). The success of MSCs application to treat graft-versus-host disease (GvHD) in patients that received bone marrow transplantation (85) especially in severe steroid resistant patients (86), multiple asystem atrophy (87), multiple sclerosis, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (88), and stroke (89) has also been reported. Moreover, Osiris' Prochymal, the first stem cell-based drug approved by Food and Drug Administration, success in phase III clinical trials in treating GvHD and Crohn's disease (90).

1.3 Human dental pulp stem cells

Human dental pulp derived stem cells (DPSCs) were initially identified by Gronthos et al. in 2000 (91). The connective tissue residing in the center of tooth is found structurally resembles primitive connective tissues and contains special population of adult stem cells (91, 92). The dental pulp comprises of four layers. The most external layer is odontoblastic layer which produce dentin. The second layer, rich in extracellular matrix and poor in cells, is called cell free zone, the third layer, which contains progenitor cells that present pluripotential capabilities and plasticity, is called cell rich zone. The innermost layer contains the vascular and nervous plexus.

DPSCs are readily available from extracted teeth which are usually discarded as medical waste. Their accessibility and rapid proliferation provide a potential for expansion. Furthermore, it is also possible to bank DPSCs as it can be effectively cryopreserved with excellent viability and function (93, 94). The extraction, preservation and isolation of DPSCs can be advantageous for prospective regenerative medicine.

Under the specific stimuli, DPSCs have the potential to differentiate into several types of cell, including neurons, adipocytes, chondrocytes, osteoblasts, keratocytes and insulin producing cells (8-14). They have high proliferation rate. Their cultures show typical fibroblast-like morphology and high clonogenic activity similar to the human bone marrow colony forming units. They also expressed STRO-1, a mesenchymal stem cell surface marker, which is also present in bone-marrow derived stem cells (15). The phenotypic characteristics of DPSCs were similar to the mesenchymal stem cells from bone marrow (16).

1.4 Roles of DPSCs in regenerative therapies

Role in corneal reproduction

The reconstruction of corneal epithelium with tissue engineered DPSC sheet was successful in animal study. In 2010, Gomes et al. performed a transplantation of a tissue engineered DPSC sheet on the corneal bed of rabbits and covered it with deepithelialized human amniotic membrane. Its postoperative histological analysis showed the formation of a healthy uniform corneal epithelium (17).

Role in myocardial infarction

Cardiomyocytic differentiation of DPSCs has been studied. The tissue specific MSCs including DPSCs can differentiate into cardiomyocytes (18). Another study in animal model also demonstrated that human DPSCs secrete multiple pro-angiogenic apoptotic factors and suggested that human DPSCs have the therapeutic potential in repair of myocardial infarction (19). These studies support the potential use of DPSCs in the stem cell based cardiac therapies.

Role of DPSCs in Ischemia

A highly vasculogenic DPSCs which is similar to endothelial progenitor cells was successfully isolated from the dental pulp. These cells showed increased proliferative and migration activities including multi-lineage differentiation and vasculogenic potential. The engraftment of DPSCs in a rat model with hind limb ischemic was also successful and lead to an increase in the blood flow including high density of capillary formation (20).

Role of DPSCs in muscular dystrophy

The myogenic potential of DPSCs was evaluated. The therapeutic potential of DPSC in differentiation into dystrophin producing muscle cells was successfully utilized in muscular dystrophy which dystrophin cannot be produced by the body. A transplantation of human DPSCs by arterial or muscular injections in golden retriever dogs with muscular dystrophy showed a significant engraftment in dog muscles (21).

Role of DPSCs in neural repair

The neuro-protective effect of DPSCs in vitro models of Parkinson's and Alzheimer's disease has been studied (22). DPSCs can express a neuronal phenotype and produce several neurotropic factors including nerve growth factor (NGF), Glial cell-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF), Brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) and Bone morphogenetic protein 2 (BMP2). An experiment on DPSC transplantation in rats with severed spinal cords demonstrated that DPSCs protected primary neurons and helped in the cell viability. They helped in regeneration of transacted axons by prevention of apoptosis of neurons, astrocytes and oligodendrocytes and by inhibiting axon growth inhibitors. They also differentiated into mature oligodendrocytes to replace the lost cells (23, 95).

DPSCs differentiation to Hepatocyte

The initial research in hypatocytic differentiation of DPCSs reported that DPSCs may possibly be differentiated into cells with phenotypic, morphological and functional characteristics similar to hepatocytes (24). A recent study in vitro showed that DPSCs have the capacity to differentiate into hepatic family (25).

DPSCs considerations for Type 1 diabetes

DPSCs can differentiate into insulin producing cells (IPCs) (14) and have the capacity to differentiate into islet-like aggregates in vitro (96).

Role of DPSCs in bone regeneration

In dentistry, the need for bone is increasing since inadequate bone foundation or bone loss is one of the major problems in dental treatment. The DPSCs are ectomesenchymal in origin and contain osteogenic markers that respond to the inductors of osteogenic and odontogenic differentiation. Since DPSCs have the differentiation profiles which are similar to those showed during bone differentiation, they become interesting as a model to study the osteogenesis and the relationship with scaffolds (27, 28).

Some studies have demonstrated that DPSCs possess the potential to express osteoblastic characteristics and form mineralized nodules in vitro (97-99). Osteogenic medium, a mixture of β -glycerophosphate (β -Gly), dexamethasone (Dex), and ascorbic acid, is now a standard procedure used for the osteogenic induction of stem cells (100). Dental mesenchymal cells display osteogenic differentiation and form calcified mass when treated with osteogenic medium (101-103). Moreover, the studies in vivo on bone regeneration by DPSCs using with collagen scaffold demonstrated the complete bone regeneration in clinical and radiographic analysis (104, 105).

1.5 Clinical application of DPSCs

The clinical application of DPSCs has not been approved yet. The use of DPSCs is still limited to in vitro and in animal studies. More information and further study about DPSCs in vivo is still needed before their virtually clinical application.

2. Aging and Senescence

Aging (ageing) means becoming older. It refers to the biological ageing of organisms in narrow sense. The term can also refer to single cells within an organism in the broader sense but (cellular senescence). Similarly, the word "senescence" which means "to grow old" can refer either to the senescence of whole organism or to cellular senescence.

Humans aging or senescence represents the accumulation of changes over time in an individual, including change in physical, psychological and social. This complex process is gradual deterioration of physiological function involves entire cells and tissues in an organism. The functional decline is associated with a reduced capacity to maintain normal tissue homeostasis and a decreased regenerative capacity of tissues in response to injury in old organisms. It is commonly believed that cellular senescence underlies the senescence of organismal.

2.1 Theories in aging

The definite causes of aging are still unknown. Several theories have been proposed to explain the alterations related to aging in human bodies. The present theories are based on the damage concept where the accumulation of externally induced damage e.g., mutation, or the programmed aging concept where the internal processes drive aging e.g., telomere shortening. Harman in 1956 first introduced "the free radical theory of aging" to explain the molecular mechanisms of aging (106). Mitochondria dysfunctions, accumulation of DNA damage and telomere length are also considered as causative factors of aging mechanisms. Moreover, "the stem cell theory of aging" which explained that stem cells are crucial for maintaining tissue homeostasis has also been proposed to explain aging mechanism. As stem cells continuously replace effector cells in the organ, loss of their number and function leads to a breakdown of organ function (67). Exhaustion of adult stem cell pools as an outcome of deranged metabolic signaling, premature cellular senescence as a response to oncogenic offense, and other factors contribute to age-related tissue degeneration. Oxidative stress, DNA damage and telomere length are also interrelated phenomena and affect adult stem cells (107, 108).

2.2 The hallmarks of aging

Lopez-Otin et al. in 2013 summarised nine tentative cellular and molecular hallmarks of aging in organisms. They are genomic instability, telomere attrition, epigenetic alterations, loss of proteostasis, deregulated nutrient-sensing, mitochondrial dysfunction, cellular senescence, stem cell exhaustion and altered intercellular communication (100).



Figure 3 The Hallmarks of Aging.

The nine hallmarks described by Lopez-Otin et al. representing aging in organisms are genomic instability, telomere attrition, epigenetic alterations, loss of proteostasis, deregulated nutrient sensing, mitochondrial dysfunction, cellular senescence, stem cell exhaustion, and altered intercellular communication.

2.2.1 Genomic Instability

The accumulation of genetic damage throughout life is a common denominator of aging. Many premature aging diseases result from the increased DNA damage accumulation, such as, Werner syndrome and Bloom syndrome. The DNA stability is repeatedly challenged by internal threats including spontaneous hydrolytic reactions, reactive oxygen species, and DNA replication errors, as well as by external physical, chemical and biological threats. The genetic lesions from intrinsic or extrinsic damage are diverse and include point mutations, translocations, chromosomal gains and losses, telomere shortening, and gene disruption caused by the integration of viruses or transposons. DNA repair mechanisms have been evolved in organisms to minimize these genetic lesions. The genomic stability systems also include specific mechanisms for maintaining the appropriate length and functionality of telomeres, and for ensuring the integrity of mitochondrial DNA. Defects in nuclear architecture can also cause genome instability and result in premature aging syndromes. Genomic damage accompanies aging and its artificial induction can provoke the acceleration of aging.

2.2.2 Telomere Attrition

Telomere (terminal ends of DNA) shortening was found during normal aging. Telomere dysfunction can accelerate aging in mice and humans, and stimulation of telomerase can delay aging in mice. Somatic cells do not express telomerase, DNA polymerase that can replicate telomere, thus the progressive and cumulative loss of telomere-protective sequences from chromosome ends. Telomerase deficiency is associated with premature development of diseases in humans, such as dyskeratosis congenital, pulmonary fibrosis, and aplastic anemia.

2.2.3 Epigenetic Alterations

Many evidences suggested that aging is accompanied by epigenetic alterations. Epigenetic alterations including the alterations in chromatin remodeling, post-translational modification of histones, and DNA methylation patterns constitute

age-associated epigenetic marks. Alterations in epigenetic factors, epigenetic modifications in histones, and DNA-methylation determine changes in chromatin architecture, such as global heterochromatin loss and redistribution, which establish characteristic features of aging.

2.2.4 Loss of Proteostasis

Impaired proteostasis or protein homeostasis is associated with aging and some age-related diseases. The proteostasis participates the mechanisms for stabilization of the correctly folded proteins and mechanisms for proteins degradation by proteasome or the lysosome. Many studies have demonstrated that proteostasis is altered with aging.

2.2.5 Deregulated Nutrient-Sensing

Anabolic signaling accelerates aging, and decreased nutrient signaling extends longevity. Limited nutrient can extend longevity in mice.

2.2.6 Mitochondrial Dysfunction

Mitochondrial dysfunction can accelerate aging in mammals, but it is less clear that improving mitochondrial function can extend lifespan in mammals. The mitochondrial function has a profound impact on aging process. The efficacy of the respiratory chain decreases as cells and organisms age, and it bring about increasing electron leakage and reducing ATP generation. Mitochondrial dysfunction can conduce to aging independently of ROS. It may affect apoptotic signaling by increasing the propensity to permeabilize and trigger inflammatory reactions. Mitochondrial dysfunction may also directly impact on cellular signaling by affecting mitochondrial-associated membranes. The combination of increased damage and reduced turnover in mitochondria, due to lower biogenesis and reduced clearance, may contribute to the aging process.

2.2.7 Cellular Senescence

Cellular senescence is a compensatory response to damage that accelerates aging when tissues exhaust the regenerative capacity. The primary purpose of senescence is to prevent the propagation of damaged cell, and senescence is possibly a beneficial compensatory response that leads to rid tissues from potentially oncogenic and damaged cells. However, this cellular response requires a competent cell-replacement process including clearance of senescent cells and collecting of progenitors to restore cell numbers. This turnover process in aged organisms may exhaust the regenerative capacity of progenitor cells and eventually contribute to the accumulation of senescent cells which may provoke damage and lead to aging. Not only telomere shortening but other aging-associated stimuli trigger senescence. The accumulation of senescent cells in aged tissues has been often inferred using surrogate markers such as DNA damage. However, cellular senescence is not a generalized property of all tissues in aged organisms. The accumulation of senescent cells with aging can conceivably reflect an increasing the generating rate of senescent cells or their decreasing clearance rate. It has been assumed that cellular senescence contributes to aging since the amount of senescent cells increases with aging.

2.2.8 Stem Cell Exhaustion

Stem cell exhaustion unfolds as the consequence of multiple types of aging associated damages. The decreasing in regenerative potential of tissues is one of the most obvious characteristics of aging. Functional decline of stem cells has been found in all adult stem cell compartments. It correlates with the accumulation of DNA damage and the overexpression of cell cycle-inhibitory proteins (eg. p16INK4a). Telomere attrition is also an important cause of stem cell decline with aging. Although deficient proliferation of stem and progenitor cells is obviously detrimental for the long-term maintenance of the organism, an excessive proliferation of stem cells and progenitor cells can also be deleterious by accelerating the exhaustion of stem cell niches.

2.2.9 Altered Intercellular Communication

Aging also involves changes at intercellular communication level. The neurohormonal signaling, such as renin-angiotensin, adrenergic and insulin-IGF1 signaling, tends to be deregulated in aging as inflammatory reactions increase, immunosurveillance declines, and composition of extracellular environment changes, therefore affecting the mechanical and functional properties of all tissues. Inflammaging, the prominent aging-associated alteration in intercellular communication, may arise from multiple causes such as the accumulation of pro-

inflammatory tissue damage, occurrence of a defective autophagy response, and the failure of dysfunctional immune system. The function of the adaptive immune system declines paralleling inflammaging. Moreover, aging-related alteration in one tissue can lead to aging-specific deterioration of other tissues, explaining the interorgan coordination of the aging phenotype. Bystander effects which senescent cells induce senescence in neighboring cells via gap junction-mediated cell-cell contacts and processes involving ROS was also found. Aging was not a cell biological phenomenon, but also general alteration in intercellular communication, offering opportunities to modulate aging at this level.

3. Adult stem cells and aging

Although the definite mechanism in age-dependent decline of stem cell selfrenewal is still unclear, it is fundamentally important to present understanding of aging.

Adult stem cells play a significant role in maintaining normal homeostasis and regenerative repair of tissues throughout the lifetime of an organism, owing to their special characteristic of self-renewal to preserve stem cell pools and differentiation into various cell types. The self-renewal capacity declines with advancing age and it eventually take to the accumulation of unrepaired, damaged tissues in old organisms (67).

Many studies have found the impairments of various tissue resident stem cells during aging process. For example, Nishimura et al. reported that melanocyte stem cells exhibit ectopic pigmentation or differentiation in aged mice and this event might link to graying hair which is a sign of aging in humans and some mammals (109, 110). Aged hematopoietic stem cells in humans and rodents were found decreasing in their engraftment potential and tending to differentiate into myeloid cells (111-113). Aged mice and humans had decreased number of muscle stem cells (114, 115).

4. Epigenetics

The definition of epigenetics is "The study of stable genetic modifications that results in changes in gene expression without a corresponding alteration in the DNA sequences" (116), or "Heritable changes in the genetic expression without any changing in the DNA sequences" (117). Epigenetic marks integrate intrinsic and extrinsic or environmental stimuli and are considered as a link between genotype, environment, phenotype and disease (118). Epigenetic mechanisms include histone modifications, DNA methylation, post-translational and non-coding RNAs. Epigenetic mechanisms are widely implicated in cancer (119) and play an important role in developmental processes (120).

4.1 DNA Methylation

DNA methylation, the major epigenetic modification in human (121), is the covalent addition of methyl groups to cytosines which is catalyzed by DNA methyltransferases (DNMTs). A methyl group (CH_3) is transferred from the universal methyl donor S-adenosyl methionine to position 5-carbon of the cytosine ring resulting in 5-methylcytosine (5-mC) (122) (Fig. 3).



Figure 4 DNA Methylation Reaction Catalyzed by DNMT.

DNA methylation typically occurs at cytosines that are followed by a guanine. A methyl group is transferred from the universal methyl donor S-adenosyl methionine to 5-carbon of the cytosine ring resulting in 5-methylcytosine (5mC) and S-adenosylhomocysteine (SAH) via the action of DNA methyltransferases (DNMTs).

DNA methylation is considered an efficient repressor of transcriptional activity since the methyl groups directly prevent the binding of essential transcription factors to their targets. New evidence support that the presence of methyl groups models the surrounding chromatin, inducing a DNA conformation less accessible to the transcription machinery (39). About 70 percents of CpGs are methylated, mainly in repressive heterochromatin regions and in repetitive sequences such as retro transposable elements (123).

DNA methylation is known to be associated with the regulation of many biological processes, including genomic stability, parental imprinting and gene expression (43). DNA methylation also plays an important role in cell differentiation by silencing the expression of specific genes during the developmental processes (124-126).

It was also found to be related with many types of cancer. There are associations between aberrant DNA methylation patterns (hypermethylation and hypomethylation) and a large number of human malignancies (119, 127). Global loss of DNA methylation has also been implicated in the development and progression of cancer through different mechanisms (128). Typically, there is hypermethylation of tumor suppressor genes and hypomethylation of oncogenes.

DNA methylations have been related with atherosclerosis. Vascular tissue and blood cells such as mononuclear blood cells displays global hypomethylation with gene-specific areas of hypermethylation. DNA methylation polymorphisms present before lesions are observed thus it may be used as an early biomarker of atherosclerosis and may provide an early tool for detection and risk prevention (129).

DNA methylations have also been related with aging. There is a global loss of DNA methylation during aging. However, some genes become hypermethylated with age (130).

More than one-third of DNA methylation is estimated to occur in repetitive elements (48, 49) which regard as a large portion of human genome (55). Alu and LINE-1, the most plentiful families (approximately 30% of human genome), have been used as the surrogate markers for estimating the global DNA methylation levels (131, 132).

5. Repetitive Sequences

Human genome contains large portion of DNA repeats which were once thought as junk DNA (Fig. 4).



Figure 5 The Organization of Human Genome.

Repeats or repetitive sequences are the largest portion and contributed to about 45% of human genome (133).

"Repetitive sequences, repetitive DNA, repetitive elements, repeats or DNA repeats" are the terms refering to any DNA fragments which present in multiple copies in the whole genome. Repetitive sequences can be basically devided in to two types; tandemly arrayed and interspersed repeats (Fig. 5) (134).

- 1.) Tandem repeats: the DNA sequences which their copies lie immediately adjacent to each other in an array or in head-to-tail orientation, either directly or inverted
- 2.) Interspersed repeats: the DNA sequences which their copies are randomly scattered or dispersed throughout the genome

5.1 Interspersed Repetitive Sequences and Transposable Elements

Interspersed repetitive sequences are mostly inactive. They are the incomplete copies of transposable elements inserted into genomic DNA.

Transposable elements (TE or transposon), sometimes called jumping genes or mobile elements, were discovered more than 50 years ago and are now known as the most abundant constituent in eukaryotic genomes and account for at least about 45% of human genome. TEs are the segments of DNA sequences which can change their position within the genome by being duplicated and inserted anywhere in the host genome. Almost half of human genome is derived from the ancient transposable elements (134).

5.2 Types of Transposable Elements

TEs can be categorized by several criteria. On the basis of self-sufficiency, all types of TEs present two variants; autonomous and nonautonomous. The autonomous variants (e.g., HERV, LINE) encode the necessary enzymes and are self-suffcient for transposition, such as transcriptase and endonuclease/integrase. The nonautonomous variants (e.g., Alu, SVA) change their positions by borrowing the protein machinery encoded by its autonomous relatives.

Despite their diversity, human transposable elements can also be divided into two basic types depending on how they transpose or the requirement of reversetranscription; DNA transposons and retrotransposons (134, 135).

5.2.1 DNA transposons (Type II TEs)

DNA transposons do not require any reverse-transcription process in their transposition. They move their DNA copies from one location to another by a cutand-paste mechanism, without an RNA intermediate. A transposase which is the transposon-encoded protein recognizes the terminal inverted repeats that flank the TE, then cuts the TE out from the donor position, and integrates the transposon into a new site. The gap occurred at the donor site can then be repaired either with or without the replacement of the TE.

5.2.2 Retrotransposons (Type I TEs)

Retrotrasposons are the TEs that need a reverse-transcription. They move by a process, liken to a copy-and-paste mechanism, called retrotranposition through an RNA intermediated which is expressed in the host cell. After reverse transcription using mRNA, the resulting complementary DNA (cDNA) copy is integrated back into the host genome. The enzymes used in reverse transcription and integration, reverse transcriptase and endonuclease/integrase (EN/INT), are encoded by autonomous elements.

Retrotransposons can be subdivided into long terminal repeat (LTR) retrotransposon and non-long terminal repeat (non-LTR) retrotransposon, on the basis of the presence of long terminal repeats (LTRs) which are direct repeats at the ends of the elements (136).

- Long terminal repeat (LTR) retrotransposon

Proteins pol and gag found in LTR retrotransposon are very closely related to retroviral proteins, however these elements lack the envelope (env) protein which is required to exit the host cell. LTR retrotransposons are human endogenous retroviruses (HERVs) that have an intracellular existence as a result of a nonfunctional envelope gene.

O Human endogenous retroviruses (HERVs)

<u>Non-long terminal repeat (Non-LTR) retrotransposon</u>

Non-LTR retrotransposon can be classified on the basis of size into long interspersed elements and short interspersed elements .

- O Short interspersed elements (SINEs) is the repetitive interspersed DNA sequences which are less than 500 base pair long ^{53,189,194,195}
- O Long interspersed elements (LINEs)



Figure 6 The Overall Classification of The Repetitive Sequences.

The flow chart shows the overall classification of the repetitive sequences.

5.3 Alu elements

An Alu element, being about 300 basepairs long, is classified as a nonautonomous short interspersed nuclear element and was identified originally 30 years ago as a component in human, characterized by the action of the Alu (Arthrobacter luteus) restriction endonuclease. Alu elements are unique to primates. The name 'Alu elements' was given to these repeated sequences as members of this family of repeats contain a recognition site for the restriction enzyme Alul. Alu is one of the most successful mobile elements. It is the most abundant mobile elements which the copy number excesses one million, contributing to almost 11% of the human genome (49, 137).

The elements are non-autonomous and acquire trans-acting factors in their amplifying process from the only active family of autonomous human retroelements: LINE-1 (138). Alus insert in genome using a process termed target primed reverse transcription. Because these elements insert through an RNA intermediate, each new insertion effectively increases the copy number of them. However, the vast majority of the Alu copies are not transcriptionally active (54). Most Alus in the genome are repressed transcription by methylation or chromatin context (139, 140). Alu is formed from two diverged dimers, which are ancestrally derived from the 7SL RNA gene, and separated by a short A-rich region. Having two similar dimeric structures, distinct monomers and joined by an A-rich linker, it is believed that modern Alu elements emerged from a head-to-tail fusion of two distinct fossil antique monomers over 100 million years ago (141).

The general structure of an Alu, presenting in Fig. 6, is (5' Part 1 - A5TACA6 - Part 2 – Poly A Tail - 3'). Typical Alu structure is composed of 2 part, with the 3' half (right arm) containing additional 31 basepairs insertion relative to the 5' half (left arm) Total length of each Alu is approximately 300 basepairs, depending on the length of poly A tail which varies between Alu families, while the body of Alu is about 280 basepairs long. Two dimers are sererated by a central A-rich region. The entire Alu element is flanked by short direct repeats of variable length which are derived from the site of insertion, called target site duplication or TSDs (black arrow in the figure). The 3' end of an Alu element has a longer A-rich region that plays a critical role in its amplification mechanism. The elements have an internal RNA polymerase III promoter in the 5'half (Box A and B) that potentially initiates transcription at the beginning of the Alu and produces RNAs that are responsible for their amplification. However, Alu elements have no terminator for transcription and



the transcripts terminate at nearby genomic locations using a $\top \top \top \top$ terminator sequence (53, 142).

Figure 7 The Illustration of The Basic Structure of Alu Element.

Alu element is approximately 300 bp long. A dimeric structure is composed of two related but not equivalent monomers (left and right arms). Both arms are linked by an A-rich region. At the end of the right arm lies the poly-A tail, which is a long stretch of adenine characteristic to both SINEs and LINEs. Box A, B are the control sequences, the RNA polymerase III promoter and box A' is the complement of box A. The element is flanked by target site duplication (TSD), presenting by black arrows.

Alus are rich in CpG residues which are widely subject to methylation, thus responsible for about 25% of all of the methylation in genome (56). Methylation of Alu varies in different tissues and appears to decrease in some tumors (58, 59, 62). Demethylation of an Alu may increase the expression from that Alu locus. Recent study also reported that decreased methylation level of Alu was associated with aging (65, 66), post-menopausal women with osteoporosis (63).

5.4 Association of Alu methylation levels

DNA methylation also results in transposable element silencing. It was found that the repression of LINE (143) and SINE (144) promoters in human genome occurs when DNA methylation is reduced. The actual biological significance of TEs repression is unproven. There are two explanations discussing; the repression is essential for preventing DNA damage from unconstrained transposition (145), or the
repression is required to reduce transcriptional noise, as the transcription of a large excessive irrelevant promoters could bring an unacceptable level of transcriptional noise which would interfere gene expression programs (146). Increasing in transcription of the elements human yet has not been found related with increasing transposition.

Alteration of Alu methylation level was observed relating with various conditions. Decrease in methylation level of Alu was found in many types of cancer such as familial breast cancer (57), HER2 enriched subtype of breast cancer (58), gastric cancer (59, 60), chronic lymphocytic leukemia (61), and nasopharyngeal cancer (62). Hypomethylation of Alu was also associated with developmental process, it has been reported in menopausal women who has lower bone mass and osteoporosis (63), and in blood cells of aging people (66). On the contrary, higher Alu methylation has been observed in various conditions, such as systemic lupus erythematosus (147), insulin resistance (148) colorectal cancer (149), and cardiovascular risk, including hypertension and diabetes (150).

6. Stem cell behavior and epigenetic regulations

Stem cell behavior is not only mediated by genetic events such as DNA sequence, multiple levels of regulation including posttranscriptional, translational, posttranslational, but epigenetic regulatory processes also take part (35). Recently, the epigenetic regulation has emerged as an important modulator of stem cell differentiation (151). Epigenetic modifications are largely responsible for the activation and repression of specific genes at specific time points during the lifespan of the cells, allowing for their terminally differentiated phenotype. The epigenetic modification is heritable, the changes in DNA remain as cells divide and last for multiple generations. Major epigenetic mechanisms include histone modifications and DNA methylation which have been related to gene regulation and other cellular processes including division and survival (37). DNA methylation, histone modification and noncoding RNA regulation collaborate in controlling chromatin plasticity.

Gene expression potential in stem cell renewal and differentiation is regulated by epigenetic mechanisms that alter the transcriptional permissiveness of chromatin, of which DNA methylation is the best characterized compartment (152). It is generally accepted that DNA methylation silences gene expression.

The maintenance of the pluripotency state in embryonic stem cells (ESCs) is given by development associated transcription factors, including OCT4, NANOG, and SOX2, which activate genes of self-renewal at their unmethylated promoters (153). Epigenetic profiles of mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) reflect a more limited differentiation potential as compared to ESCs, but numerous epigenetic modifications concomitantly happen during both osteogenic and adipogenic differentiation (35).

In bone marrow derived mesenchymal stem cell, OCT4 is silenced by hypermethylation of its promoter, whereas SOX2 and NANOG are unmethylated despite the repressed state of the genes (154), indicating the implications of other epigenetic mechanisms.

Each cell type has the unique pattern of methylation. MSCs isolated from human adipose tissue, bone marrow, and muscle show similar DNA methylation profiles (155). It has been reported that human embryonic stem cells contain a unique epigenetic signature based on methylation profiles (156).

A study on MSC undergone replicative senescence reported that the overall DNA methylation remained constant after long-term culture of MSC but highly significant differences were observed at specific CpG sites, homeobox genes and genes involved in cell differentiation. The study inevitably shows that the longtermed culture leads to significant methylation changes at specific CpG sites and seems to affect genes involved in development. It also supports the notion that replicative senescence represents developmental processes that are regulated by specific epigenetic modifications (157).

CHAPTER III MATERIALS AND METHODS

This study was an observational laboratory investigation. DPSCs were expanded until reaching the passage that their proliferation rate was extremely retarded. DNA of DPSCs from each passage were collected and submitted to methylation study. Combined bisulfite restriction analysis (COBRA) technique was used for studying methylation levels of Alu. The methylation levels of Alu were compared among various passages of DPSCs. Light microscope was used for examining the morphological change. Population doubling time was recorded during cell passage. The senescence-associated β-Galactosidase assay was performed to detect cellular senescence.

Sample

Sample Selection

The non-pathological third molars removed from healthy adult patients for treatment of impacted third molars at the Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, Faculty of Dentistry, Chulalongkorn University were collected with the consent of patients. Dental pulp tissue were then isolated for DPSC extraction.

Sample size

Calculation of the sample size for hypothesis testing was performed using the data from pilot study which the percentage of Alu methylation in early passages and late passages of 3 DPSCs samples were cultured and investigated. Independent t-test was used for comparing means of two populations under the condition of normal distribution data. The Alu methylation data from preliminary study was shown in the table 1.

	% Alu Methylation of DPSC		
Sample	early passages late passag		
1	39.94	36.72	
2	37.59	32.72	
3	36.86	36.84	
Mean (µ)	38.13	35.43	
Standard deviation			
(s)	1.31	1.91	
s ²	1.72	3.65	

Table 1 The Alu methylation data from preliminary study.

Sample size is calculated with the following formula.

$$n = \frac{2\sigma^2(Z_{1-\alpha/2} + Z_{1-\beta})^2}{(\mu_1 - \mu_2)^2} \quad \text{If } n_1 = n_2, \quad \sigma^2 = \frac{(S_1^2 + S_2^2)}{2}$$

n = sample size by group
$$\sigma = \text{standard deviation}$$
$$\alpha = 0.05 \text{ (at 95\% confidence interval)}$$
$$\beta = 0.1 \text{ (power of test 90\%)}$$
$$\mu_1 = \text{mean of Alu methylation percentage in osteogenic induced DPSCs}$$
$$\mu_2 = \text{mean of Alu methylation percentage in original DPSCs}$$

μ_1	38.13	μ ₂	35.43
<i>S</i> ₁	1.31	<i>S</i> ₂	1.91
<i>S</i> ₁ ²	1.72	S_2^2	3.65
$Z_{1-\propto/2}$	1.96	$Z_{1-\beta}$	1.28
σ^2	2.69	$(Z_{1-\alpha/2} + Z_{1-\beta})^2$	10.50
$(\mu_1 - \mu_2)^2$	7.29		

From the formula $n = \frac{2\sigma^2(Z_{1-\alpha/2}+Z_{1-\beta})^2}{(\mu_1-\mu_2)^2}$, n = 7.75 Therefore, at least 8 samples should be included in each group.

Dental Pulp Stem Cells Isolation and Culture

The Isolated dental pulp tissues were washed with sterile phosphate buffered saline (PBS) and plated onto 60 mm culture plates and maintained in 3 ml. of Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM; Gibco, NY, USA) containing 10%fetal bovine serum (FBS; Gibco, NY, USA), 2mM L-glutamine (Gibco, NY, USA), 100U/ml penicillin, 100µg/ml streptomycin, and 5µg/ml amphotericin B (Gibco, NY, USA) in 100% humidity, 37°C and 5% carbon dioxide for 24 hours, under sterile condition. Medium was changed every 48 hours. After reaching confluence, the cells were subcultured to 3 plates at 1:3 ratios.

Investigation of Morphological Changes

The morphology of DPSC in every passage was observed under light microscope, and their images were recorded.

MTT Cell Proliferation Assays

Doubling time of each passage of DPSC was analyzed by MTT proliferation assay used for assessing cell metabolic activity. The yellow tetrazolium MTT salt 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide) was reduced by NADH or NADPH which generated by dehydrogenase enzymes in the mitochondria of the metabolically active and viable cells to yield purple insoluble formazan product.

In this study, 20,000 cells of DPSC form each passage were plated in the 24well plates in triplicate. MTT assay was performed at day 1, 2 and 3 of the culture. At the time of MTT assay, plates were rinsed with PBS twice and added with 0.5 mg/ml MTT solution, prepared with Thiazolyl blue (Sigma, MA, USA) in serum free media without phenol red. After incubated for 30 minutes and purple formazan was visible, MTT solution was removed and 1ml detergent solution (1 Glycine buffer: 9 Dimethylsulfoxide) was added to solubilize the colored crystal.

The Senescence-Associated β -Galactosidase Assay

The cellular senescence was investigated by the detection of senescentassociated beta galactosidase activity (SA- β -Gal), a biomarker for cellular senescence, using Senescence β -Galactosidase Staining Kit (Cell Signaling Technology, MA, USA) according to the manufacturer's instruction. In brief, DPSCs from each passage were plated in 6-well plate and incubated overnight. After removing growth medium and rinsing the plate with 2 ml PBS, 1ml of Fixative Solution was added and incubated at room temperature for 15 minutes. The plate was then rinsed twice with PBS, added with β -Galactosidase Staining Solution, sealed with parafilm and incubated at 37°C overnight in a dry incubator without CO₂. The development of blue color representing the β -Galactosidase activity in senescent cell was investigated under a microscope (200X magnification).

DNA Extraction

DPSCs from each passage were collected to extract the DNA for the analysis of Alu methylation. The cells are harvested into 1ml tube by trypisinization and centrifuged at 5,000 rpm for 5 minutes to pellet cells. After removal of all medium and washing with PBS, 20 μ L of Proteinase K and 500 μ L of lysis buffer were added to the sample. They were mixed well by vortexing and incubated at 50°C for 48 hours for cell lysis. Genomic DNA was then isolated by using standard phenol-chloroform extraction, ethanol precipitation, washing and elution. The final DNA concentration is measured using nanodrop. The purified DNA is stored at -20°C until use.

Modified Combined Bisulfite Restriction analysis (COBRA)

The process consists of 4 steps as follow (Fig. 7)

- 1. DNA denaturation and sodium bisulfite treatment
- 2. Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) for DNA amplification
- 3. Restriction digestion of the amplified DNA
- 4. Quantification (gel electrophoresis) and measuring the intensity of interesting bands



Figure 8 Steps in COBRA.

1. DNA denaturation and Sodium Bisulfite Treatment

Principle

Sodium bisulfite treatment of DNA converses all "unmethylated cytosine" (^uC) to "uracil" (U) residues. "Methylated cytosine" (^mC) are unaffected and remain as "cytosine" residue (C). Bisulfite conversion results in a mixed population of DNA which reflects the difference in a methylation pattern.

The unmethylated cytosine is changed to uracil in bisulfite treatment through the deamination of cytosine. The reaction involves in several steps (Fig 8). Deamination of cytosine begins when the bisulfite are added to 5-6 double bond of cytosine, then a hydrolytic deamination of the resulting cytosine-bisulfite derivative takes place to form a Uracil-bisulfite ,and the sulfonate group is then removed by subsequent alkaline treatment. However, the reactivity of 5-methylcytosine is greatly lower thus the methylated cytosine remains unchanged.

The reaction requires the DNA to stay in a single-stranded form because sulfonation of cytosine can only occur on single-stranded DNA. Therefore, the genomic DNA is needed to be fully denatured and remains denatured until the sulfonation is complete.



Figure 9 Reaction in Bisulfite Treatment.

Bisulfite treatment changes unmethylated cytosine to uracil but

5-methylcytosine remains unaffected.

Technique

Bisulfite modification of the DNA samples was performed using an EZ DNA methylation kit (Zymo Research, Orange, CA, USA) according to the manufacturer's protocols. Modified DNA was ready for analysis or was strored at -20°C for later use.

2. Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR)

Principle

PCR is one of revolutionary method for DNA amplification. This method is ground on using DNA polymerase to synthesize new strand of DNA that complementary to the offered DNA template strand. Since DNA polymerase can only add a nucleotide on a preexisting 3'-OH group, a DNA primer is need to initiate the first nucleotide addition. The PCR components are DNA template, DNA polymerase, primers and nucleItides. DNA template is the sample DNA which contains target DNA sequences. DNA polymerase is the heat resistant enzyme used in synthesizing new strands of DNA which complementary to the target sequences. The most common enzyme is *Taq* DNA polymerase acquired from *Thermis aquaticus*. DNA polymerase can generate new strands of DNA by using a DNA template and primers. Primers are short segment of single-stranded DNA that bind in complementary direction to the target DNA strand. Nucleotides (deoxynucleotide triphosphates or dNTPs) are single units of bases A, T, C, and G, which are the essential substances for new DNA strands.

One cycle of PCR consist of three steps; denaturation, annealing and extension, which are conveniently triggered by temperature. Each cycle of PCR generates double amount of target DNA sequence, the copies of target sequence will be exponentially increased at the end of the reaction. The first step at the beginning of reaction is "Denaturation". High temperature (approximately 94°F) is applied to separate the strands of DNA's double helix. The heat breaks the hydrogen bonds between amino acids on each strands, and the helix then unwinds and separates into two strands. In "annealing" step, the temperature is decreased to approximately 58°F which enable the primers to attach to the single-strands of target DNA by reforming the hydrogen bonds. The DNA polymerase continues the process in "extension" step. To activate the polymerase, the mixture in extension is warmed. After initially attaching to the primer, the polymerase begins to synthesize new DNA strand from the end of the primer. The polymerase generates new copying strand along the DNA template by attaching to base pairs in a 3' to 5' direction. The polymerase reforms the original sequence following the primer as it attaches nucleotides to the new strand complementary to the mother strand. To continue the cycle, the mixture can be reheated as long as the nucleotides and primers are enough for synthesizing new strands.





One cycle of PCR consist of three steps; denaturation, annealing and extension.

Technique

After DNA is treated with sodium bisulfite, PCR is performed to amplify ALU sequences, using the primer sequences that correspond to the nucleotides in the regulatory region of Alu elements.

Technique For Alu PCR

One microlitre of bisulfite DNA is subjected to initial denaturation at 95° C for 15min, followed by 45 cycles of 95° C for 45 seconds, annealing at 63° C for 45 seconds, extension at 72^{\circ}C for 45s and final extension at and 72^{\circ}C for 7 min, using the following primer sets Alu (F), 5=-GG(T/C) G(C/T)G GTG GTT TA(C/T) GTT TGT AA-3= (R), 5=- CTA ACT TTT TAT ATT TTT AAT AAA AAC RAA ATT TCA CCA-3= Alu amplicon after PCR is 133 bp.

3. Specific Restriction Enzyme Digestion

Principle

Specific restriction digestion is the technique using enzymes called Restriction Endonucleases (Restriction Enzymes or RE's) to cleave DNA molecules at specific sites. The enzymes recognize particular sequence (for example GGATAT) and cut the DNA molecules where that sequence exist. A buffer specific for enzymes is also added to optimize the condition for reaction. All ingredients for a restriction digestion are usually stored in a freezer until they are used to prevent proteins denaturation.

The resctriction enzyme used in this experiment is *Taq*I restriction enzyme which recognize at 5' TCGA, 3' AGCT and makes the cut as 5'---T / CGA----3' and 3'--- AGC/ T---5'.

Technique

Resulting from PCR, the COBRA Alu amplicon is 133 bp. The PCR products of Alu are digested with 2 units of *TaqI* (Fermentas International, ON, Canada) at 65°C overnight. The products are then identified and quantified.

4. Quantification

Principle

The digested fragments from restriction enzyme digestion are separated by polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis. Quantitative amount of DNA in the bands appearing from electrophoresis can be determined with a phosphoimager. The Methylation levels (percentage of methylation) can be calculated as the intensity of methylated bands divided by the sum of the methylated and unmethylated bands, showing in the following equation:

Technique

After the restriction digestion, the DNA fragments were separated on 8% nondenaturing polyacrylamide gels. The gel was then stained with SYBR green nucleicacid stain (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA). The intensities of the DNA fragments were measured with a PhosphoImager, using ImageQuant software (Molecular Dynamics, GE Healthcare, Slough, UK).

The PCR product of Alu was 133 bp and the amplicons after digestion were 133, 90, 75, 58, 43 bp (Figure10). The number of CpG dinucleotides of each COBRAAlu band was also normalized as follows: %133/133 = A; %58/58 = B; %75/75 = C; %90/90 = D; %43/43 = E; and %32/32 = F. In addition to overall methylation level, we also classified Alu loci based on the methylation statuses of 2 CpG dinucleotides as hypermethylated loci (mCmC), hypomethylated loci (uCuC), and 2 types of partially methylated loci (mCuC and uCmC) (Fig. 10).

Alu methylation levels are calculated with the following formula: (49,174,181)Overall Alu methylation level percentage (%mC) = $100 \times (E+B)/(2A+E+B+C+D)$ percentage of mCmC loci (%mCmC) = $100 \times F/(A+C+D+F)$ percentage of uCmC loci (%uCmC) = $100 \times C/(A+C+D+F)$ percentage of mCuC loci (%mCuC) = $100 \times D/(A+C+D+F)$ percentage of uCuC loci (%uCuC) = $100 \times A/(A+C+D+F)$



Figure 11 COBRA Alu Amplicons

Alu loci were classified based on the methylation statuses of 2 CpG dinucleotides as hypermethylated loci (mCmC), hypomethylated loci (uCuC), and 2 types of partially methylated loci (mCuC and uCmC).

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS version 17.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL). All *p*-values less than 0.05 were considered significant. Data were reported as mean and standard deviation. Total passage numbers of each sample were different, so we classified DPSCs into three groups depending on passage number; early, middle, and late passage, to perform the proper statistical analysis. Independent sample t-test was used for the comparison between two passage groups.

CHAPTER IV RESULTS

Long-term Culture of DPSCs

Twelve samples of DPSCs were explanted from 12 third molars of t12 healthy subjects who underwent the surgical extraction, age 18-35.

However, 3 samples were excluded from the study; including 2 bacterial contaminated samples, and 1 sample explanted from microdontia showing an unusually slow proliferation rate. Therefore, 9 samples of dental pulp stem cells were expanded in culture medium with fetal bovine serum (FBS) until they obviously lose their proliferation property or enter replicative senescence. Overall, the proliferation rate remained relatively high during the first two months before it declined. All DPSCs sample entered growth arrest after 140±15 days.

After primary explant culture, DPSCs grew out from dental pulp tissue. Under light microscope, DPSCs showed a typical fusiform fibroblast-like morphology, single monolayer with a well-spread morphology attached to the culture plate. The morphological alteration was demonstrated in figure 12.





Long-term culture of DPSCs showed the morphological alteration. DPSCs in passage 2 showed fibroblast-like morphology with spindle shape. DPSCs in

passage 9 showed larger cell size and more cytoplasmic processes compared to DPSCs in passage 2. DPSCs in passage 15 also showed larger cell size and more cytoplasmic processes compared to DPSC in passage 9.

Cell Proliferation and Doubling Time

MTT cell proliferation assay was performed in 3 samples of DPSCs, in triplicate. Doubling time of DPSCs in each passage was calculated, plotted and shown in table 2 and figure 13. Spearman's Correlation was used to analyze the relationship between passage number and doubling time. There was a statistically significant positive correlation between passage number and doubling time (r =.774, p < .001).

Passage	Average	Passage	Average
Number	Doubling	Number	Doubling
	Time (hour)		Time (hour)
3 🧃	30.39278	13	90.15596
4 Сни	67.23596	14 VERSITY	99.37973
5	69.78801	15	106.7616
6	63.15861	16	107.385
7	55.09325	17	93.52593
8	76.86075	18	106.5855
9	114.3359	19	99.78152
10	94.49278	20	111.4373
11	93.36996	21	128.0004
12	107.531	23	124.2271

Table 2 Doubling time of DPSCs in each passage.



Figure 13 Correlation of Passage Number and Doubling Time.

Passage number was positively correlated with doubling time with statistical significance.

Methylation level of Alu

Percentage of overall Alu methylatioin level (%mC) of each DPSC sample were demonstrated in figure 14. The levels of mCmC, uCuC, uCmC and mCuC were also demonstrated in figure 15, 16, 17 and 18, repectively. In each passage, the DNA methylation level was measured in tripicate. The linear regression lines were also created to show the trend of methylation level.

Figure 14, all trendlines from each sample showed the declination of %mC during DPSCs culture. All DPSCs samples tended to lose Alu methylation level during cell culture in vitro. Figure 15, DPSCs showed either the declination or escalation of %mCmC during DPSCs culture. 5 out of 11 samples of DPSCs showed the declination of trendline, 2 samples showed the escalation of trendline, and 1 sample showed the constancy of trendline. Figure 16, trendlines of %uCuC from 10 samples showed the escalation of %uCuC. Figure 17, DPSCs culture, whereas 1 sample showed the constancy of all DPSCs tend to lost %mCuC. 9 samples of DPSCs showed the declination while 1 sample showed the escalation of trendline.



Figure 14 Percentages of Overall Alu Methylation (%mC).

Each passage, the methylation level was measured in tripicate. The verical line indicates the variance of %mC. Dashed lines represents trendlines, and all trendlines showed the declination of %mC during DPSCs culture.





The verical line indicates the variance of %mCmC. Dashed lines represents trendlines. DPSCs showed either the declination or escalation of %mCmC during DPSCs culture.





The verical line indicates the variance of %uCuC. Dashed lines represents trendlines. Most samples of DPSCs showed the escalation of %uCuC during DPSCs culture





The verical line indicates the variance of %uCmC. Dashed lines represents trendlines. DPSCs showed either the declination or escalation of %uCmC during DPSCs culture.





The verical line indicates the variance of %mCuC. Dashed lines represents trendlines. Most samples of DPSCs showed the slight declination of %mCuC during DPSCs culture.

The mean of overall Alu methylation level in each passage of DPSCs were described in Table 3. A linear trendline was also created to see the trend of the average %mC in each passage during cell culture (Fig.17). Eventhough each sample of DPSCs showed the declination of %mC during DPSCs culture (Fig.12), the average of %mC showed the escalation of %mC (Fig.17). This resulted from the different level of %mC and the unequal passage number among samples.

passage	% Alu methylation		passage	% Alu methylation	
	Mean	S.D.		Mean	S.D.
2	36.7787	1.03364	14	31.213820	1.3182128
3	36.9925	.72260	15	31.595687	2.3399897
4	38.3516	.94303	16	32.787958	1.7822080
5	39.1143	1.36098	17	30.691849	1.9201973
6	39.1086	1.25634	18	28.695845	1.7298963
7	38.6640	1.05333	19	32.181187	3.0558134
8	38.3771	1.20603	20	29.768135	2.4412537
9	37.7847	.67889	21	30.842524	2.3973397
10	38.0139	1.13413	22	29.752424	2.2656386
11	37.1134	1.53149	23	30.310265	2.7205845
12	33.835446	2.0713771	24	8 29.307444	.0388163
13	32.460061	1.3153781	26	30.342838	.0827342

Table 3 Mean of overall Alu methylation level (%mC) in each passage of DPSCs.



Figure 19 Mean of Overall Methylation Level (%mc).

The average overall methylation level in each passage of DPSCs showed the increasing trend line which resulted from the unequal passage number and unequal initiated methylation level of each sample.

Due to the late passages of DPSC subculture could not be reached equally in all samples, DPSCs were categorized in to three groups; early, middle, and late passage group for the proper performance of statistically analysis. The categorization of samples was shown in Table 4.

Total	Category		
passage no.	Early Passage	Middle Passage	Late Passage
23	1-8	9-16	17-23
17	1-6	7-12	13-17
14	1-5	6-10	11-14
26	1-9	10-18	19-26
21	1-7	8-14	15-21
16	1-5	6-11	12-16
18	1-6	7-12	13-18
13	1-4	5-9	10-13
16	1-5	6-11	12-16
	Total passage no. 23 17 14 26 21 16 18 13 13 16	Total Early Passage passage no. Early Passage 23 1-8 17 1-6 14 1-5 26 1-9 21 1-7 16 1-5 13 1-4 16 1-5	TotalCategorypassage no.Early PassageMiddle Passage231-89-16171-67-12141-56-10261-910-18211-78-14161-56-11181-67-12131-45-9161-56-11

Table 4 Total passage numbers of each samples and the categorization.

The overall Alu methylation level (%mC) of each group was demonstrated in table. The average of Alu methylation levels of DPSCs in early, middle and late passage were 38.9686 ± 4.72261 , 38.2052 ± 5.13613 and 37.1838 ± 4.46660 respectively. (Table 5)

Each pattern of Alu methylation was also analysed. The average %mCmC of DPSCs in early, middle and late passage were 7.9868 \pm 4.42643, 8.0140 \pm 5.79163 and 7.2535 \pm 4.79511 respectively. The average %uCuC of DPSCs in early, middle and late passage were 30.0496 \pm 6.33365, 31.2287 \pm 6.01295 and 32.8858 \pm 6.11275 respectively. The average %uCmC of DPSCs in early, middle and late passage were 28.6396 \pm 3.05794, 28.6568 \pm 4.38776 and 28.3307 \pm 3.75756 respectively. The average %mCuC of DPSCs in early, middle and late passage were 33.3240 \pm 3.26219, 32.4754 \pm 3.43170 and 31.5300 \pm 3.21139 respectively. (Table 5)

	DPSCs		
	Early Passage	Middle Passage	Late Passage
%mC	38.9686 ± 4.72261	38.2052 ± 5.13613	37.1838 ± 4.46660
%mCmC	7.9868 ± 4.42643	8.0140 ± 5.79163	7.2535 ± 4.79511
%uCuC	30.0496 ± 6.33365	31.2287 ± 6.01295	32.8858 ± 6.11275
%uCmC	28.6396 ± 3.05794	28.6568 ± 4.38776	28.3307± 3.75756
%mCuC	33.3240 ± 3.26219	32.4754 ± 3.43170	31.5300 ± 3.21139

Table 5 The average Alu methylation level of each DPSCs group.

For statistical analysis we used one-way ANOVA to compare the Alu methylation levels of DPSCs among groups. There was a significant difference of Alu methylation level (%mC) among DPSCs groups (p=.030). DPSCs in late passage showed lower level of Alu methylation than DPSCs in middle passage with no statistical significance (p=.103). DPSCs in middle passage also showed lower level of Alu methylation than DPSCs in early passaged with no statistical significance (p=.233). However, DPSCs in late passage showed lower level of Alu methylation with statistical significance when compared with the early passage (p=.006). (Fig.20)





%mC represents the overall methylation level of Alu. The horizontal line within each box indicates mean of the percentage. Star indicates statistical significance at p< 0.05. The results demonstrated that DPSCs in late passage had a significantly lower level of Alu methylation than DPSCs in early passage.

One-way ANOVA was also used to compare all patterns of Alu methylation levels of DPSCs among passage groups. There was no statistically significant difference of %mCmC among groups (p=.325). DPSCs in late passage showed lower level of %mCmC than DPSCs in middle and early passage with no statistical significance (p=.144, p=.302). There was a significant difference of %uCuC among DPSCs groups (p=.004). DPSCs in late passage had statistically significant higher %uCuC than DPSCs in middle passage (p=.038) and DPSCs in early passage (p=.001). There was no statistically significant difference of %uCmC among groups (p=.778). DPSCs in late passage had lower %uCmC than DPSCs in middle and early passage with no statistical significance (p=.567, p=.514). Finally, There was a significant difference of %mCuC among DPSCs groups (p=.001). DPSCs in late passage had significant lower %mCuC than DPSCs in middle and early passage had significant lower %mCuC than DPSCs in middle and early passage had significant lower %mCuC than DPSCs in middle and early passage had significant lower %mCuC than DPSCs in middle and early passage (p=.029, p<.001). (Fig.21)



Figure 21 Comparison of each Alu Methylation Pattern Among Groups.

The horizontal line within each box indicates mean of the percentage. Stars indicate statistical significance at p< 0.05. The results demonstrated that DPSCs in late passage had a significantly higher level of uCuC than DPSCs in middle and early passage. DPSCs in late passage had a significantly lower level of mCuC than DPSCs in middle and early passage.

Morphological Observation and The Senescence-Associated $oldsymbol{eta}$ -Galactosidase Staining

After primary explant culture, DPSCs grew out from dental pulp tissue. Under light microscope, DPSCs showed a typical fusiform fibroblast-like morphology, single monolayer with a well-spread morphology attached to the culture plate. The senescence-associated (SA) β -Galactosidase staining assay was performed in one sample of DPSCs (DPSC1). The morphology and the result of β -Galactosidase staining were shown in figure 22, 23 and 24.

Figure 22 demonstrated the morphology and SA β -Galactosidase staining of DPSCs in early passage (passage 4-8 of DPSC1). All DPSCs in early passage showed a typical fibroblast-like morphology without expression of SA β -Galactosidase.

The morphology of DPSCs has slightly changed over time. DPSCs in the middle passage (passage 9-17 of DPSC 1) showed larger cell size, comparing to the early passage, and increased nuclear/cytoplasm ratio. However, DPSCs in the middle passage did no present the blue color of SA β -Galactosidase activity (Fig. 23).

DPSCs in late passage (passage 18-23 of DPSC 1) showed more alteration of morphology, enlarge cellular size, increased in cell debris, more cellular processes. They displayed the typical large and flat cellular morphology and expressed senescence-associated beta galactosidase (Figure 24).



Figure 22 Illustration of β-Galactosidase Staining on DPSCs in "Early Passage" Group. DPSCs in early passage showed a typical fibroblast-like morphology. Blue color which represents β-Galactosidase activity was not present in these passages.



Figure 23 Illustration of β-Galactosidase Staining on DPSCs in "Middle passage" Group. DPSCs in middle passage showed morphological changes comparing to DPSCs in early passage. Blue color which represents β-Galactosidase activity was not present.



Figure 24 Illustration of β-Galactosidase Staining on DPSCs in "Late Passage" Group. Blue color represents β-Galactosidase activity which indicates cellular senescence. Every passage of DPSCs in late passage showed β-Galactosidase activity.

CHAPTER V DISCUSSION

The result from this study demonstrated that DPSCs in late passage had a significantly lower level of overall Alu methylation (%mC) than DPSCs in early passage. In addition, DPSCs in late passage had statistically significant higher %uCuC and lower %mCuC than DPSCs in middle and early passage. In other words, the lower level of Alu methylation in aged DPSCs arised from the increased %uCuC and decreased %mCuC.

We provided the DPSCs grown in an optimal condition. Our results demonstrated that under this in vitro condition, DPSCs were capable of long-term culture without changing their viability but losing their proliferation rate and changing in their morphology. After some passages, the morphology of DPSCs displayed some sign of replicative aging during in vitro expansion, such as, alteration in cell shape, enlarged cell size, increased cell secretion and nuclear/cytoplasm ratio. These findings are in agreement with observation of Liu et al. (30) who demonstrated the morphological alteration of DPCs at passage 7 in long-term cultivation of dental pulp cells. The declination of the reprogramming markers expression Oct-4, Sox2, and c-Myc in nucleus which were detectable in the early passages were also reported during the long-term in vitro cultivation.

DPSCs with increasing passage number were associated with rising expression of senescence-associated beta galactosidase, a biomarker for cellular senescence. This finding is in agreement with the study of Li et al. which reported the higher SA- β -Gal staining in senescent dental pulp cells than in young cells (158). Furthermore, this morphological alteration and higher expression of SA- β -Gal staining in senescent cells were also found in mesenchymal stem cells (159). Although DPSCs in late passage showed blue color in SA- β -Gal staining in this study, not every DPSC presented β -Gal activity. It reflects the heterogeneous population of DPSCs. These findings are in agreement with Alraies et al. who reported the proliferative and regenerative heterogeneity between DPSC populations. They found that different DPSC population reached different population doubling before senescence. DPSCs with delay-onset senescence correlated with high proliferative capacities, possessed longer telomeres, exhibited prolonged stem cell marker expression, but lacked CD271. They also identified that proliferative and regenerative heterogeneity is related to contrasting telomere lengths and CD271 expression between DPSC populations (160).

Our study demonstrated that DPSCs lost their proliferation ability during expansion in vitro. This finding is in agreement with many evidences (30, 92, 161). Decreasing in regeneration potential in human DPSCs over time they replicate in vitro was found associated with progressive telomere shortening, the major genetic event linked to cellular aging. The relative telomere length of DPSC was inversely correlated with cumulative doubling time. DPSC lines were able to grow beyond Hayflick's limit, which the doubling time of cultured DPSCs increased when number of passages increased. The excessive ex vivo expansion of adult stem cells was also indicated to be reduced at minimum to avoid detrimental effects on telomere maintenance and measurement of telomere length should become a standard when certificating the status and replicative age of stem cells prior therapeutic applications (92, 161).

Our study also demonstrated that Alu methylation level of DPSCs in late passage was significant lower than DPSCs in early passage, and Alu methylation level decreased in the higher number of passages of DPSCs. However, there is no prior study about Alu methylation level in multiple passages of DPSCs. In the study of epigenetic regulation, global hypomethylation or the decreasing in genome-wide DNA methylation is an epigenetic change usually found in senescent cells (162). Jintaridth et al. (66) evaluated the methylation levels of peripheral blood mononuclear cells of interspersed repetitive sequences and found that human ageing was negatively correlated with methylation levels of Alu. According to our result which also indicated that aged DPSCs was negatively significant correlated with methylation levels of Alu, it implied the linkage between cellular aging and human aging as both of them are associated with the decreasing in Alu methylation level. In addition, global hypomethylation and hypomethylation of Alu were associated with the increased genomic instability (163) which is one hallmark of aging.

The exact cause of aging is still unknown, however, aging mechanisms involve with the accumulation of DNA damage, mitochondria dysfunctions and telomere length shortening. The stem cell theory of aging was proposed to explain the aging mechanisms; the stem cells are important in the maintenance of tissue homeostasis by replacing effector cells in the organs, loss of their number and function leads to a breakdown of organ function.(67) The impairments of various tissue resident stem cells during aging process have found in many studies (110, 112, 113, 115).

The limitation of this study was an unequal number of passages among samples, so we had to categorize the DPSCs in to 3 groups to statistically calculate the difference of Alu methylation level. We reported the declination of Alu methylation level in the higher number of passages of DPSCs in this study; however, the passage number is not the exact cellular age. It simply refers to the number of times the cells in the culture have been subcultured. The consideration of inoculation densities and recoveries should be involved. The population doubling should be calculated. Some experiments cannot be performed in some passages due to the inadequacy of cells, and it lead to the incomplete of data set of each sample. In addition, even in the proper condition for DPSCs, not every explanted dental pulp provided a satisfactory primary culture which presented the optimum growth rate. The microbial contamination was also a hindrance of long-term cell cultivation.

The finding from this study reflects the association between changes of Alu methylation levels in cellular and human aging process. Besides, the better understanding of stem cell aging, the more we concern in aging mechanism of human. Further studies may open the new therapeutic approaches and drug development combining genetic and epigenetic strategies.

CHAPTER VI

In conclusion, Alu methylation level of dental pulp stem cells in late passage was statistically significant lower than early passage, as %uCuC significantly increased and %mCuC significantly decreased. Dental pulp stem cells underwent replicative senescence and lost their methylation level of Alu during cultured passage in vitro. It implied that replicative senescence of DPSCs was associated with hypomethylation of Alu. Other epigenomic regulations of DPSCs and aging process should be further investigated.



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

REFERENCES

1. Rafii S, Lyden D. Therapeutic stem and progenitor cell transplantation for organ vascularization and regeneration. Nat Med. 2003;9(6):702-12.

2. Caplan AI. Adult mesenchymal stem cells for tissue engineering versus regenerative medicine. J Cell Physiol. 2007;213(2):341-7.

Bianco P, Robey PG. Stem cells in tissue engineering. Nature.
 2001;414(6859):118-21.

4. Bulgin D, Hodzic E, Komljenovic-Blitva D. Advanced and Prospective Technologies for Potential Use in Craniofacial Tissues Regeneration by Stem Cells and Growth Factors. J Craniofac Surg. 2011;22(1):342-8.

5. Nguyen TT, Mui B, Mehrabzadeh M, Chea Y, Chaudhry Z, Chaudhry K, et al. Regeneration of tissues of the oral complex: current clinical trends and research advances. J Can Dent Assoc. 2013;79:d1.

Fawzy El-Sayed KM, Dorfer C, Fandrich F, Gieseler F, Moustafa MH, Ungefroren
H. Adult mesenchymal stem cells explored in the dental field. Adv Biochem Eng
Biotechnol. 2013;130:89-103.

7. Graziano A, d'Aquino R, Laino G, Papaccio G. Dental pulp stem cells: a promising tool for bone regeneration. Stem Cell Rev. 2008;4(1):21-6.

8. Iohara K, Zheng L, Ito M, Tomokiyo A, Matsushita K, Nakashima M. Side population cells isolated from porcine dental pulp tissue with self-renewal and multipotency for dentinogenesis, chondrogenesis, adipogenesis, and neurogenesis. Stem Cells. 2006;24(11):2493-503.

9. Jo YY, Lee HJ, Kook SY, Choung HW, Park JY, Chung JH, et al. Isolation and characterization of postnatal stem cells from human dental tissues. Tissue Eng. 2007;13(4):767-73.

10. Ueno A, Yamashita K, Miyoshi K, Horiguchi T, Ruspita I, Abe K, et al. Soluble matrix from osteoblastic cells induces mineralization by dental pulp cells. J Med Invest. 2006;53(3-4):297-302.

11. Hosoya A, Nakamura H, Ninomiya T, Hoshi K, Yoshiba K, Yoshiba N, et al. Hard tissue formation in subcutaneously transplanted rat dental pulp. J Dent Res. 2007;86(5):469-74.

12. Otaki S, Ueshima S, Shiraishi K, Sugiyama K, Hamada S, Yorimoto M, et al. Mesenchymal progenitor cells in adult human dental pulp and their ability to form bone when transplanted into immunocompromised mice. Cell Biol Int. 2007;31(10):1191-7.

Syed-Picard FN, Du Y, Lathrop KL, Mann MM, Funderburgh ML, Funderburgh JL. Dental pulp stem cells: a new cellular resource for corneal stromal regeneration.
 Stem Cells Transl Med. 2015;4(3):276-85.

14. Sawangmake C, Nowwarote N, Pavasant P, Chansiripornchai P, Osathanon T. A feasibility study of an in vitro differentiation potential toward insulin-producing cells by dental tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2014;452(3):581-7.

15. Kadar K, Kiraly M, Porcsalmy B, Molnar B, Racz GZ, Blazsek J, et al. Differentiation potential of stem cells from human dental origin - promise for tissue engineering. J Physiol Pharmacol. 2009;60 Suppl 7:167-75.

16. Shi S, Robey PG, Gronthos S. Comparison of human dental pulp and bone marrow stromal stem cells by cDNA microarray analysis. Bone. 2001;29(6):532-9.

17. Gomes JAP, Monteiro BG, Melo GB, Smith RL, da Silva MCP, Lizier NF, et al. Corneal Reconstruction with Tissue-Engineered Cell Sheets Composed of Human Immature Dental Pulp Stem Cells. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2010;51(3):1408-14.

Arminan A, Gandia C, Bartual MC, Garcia-Verdugo JM, Lledo E, Mirabet V, et al.
 Cardiac Differentiation Is Driven by NKX2.5 and GATA4 Nuclear Translocation in
 Tissue-Specific Mesenchymal Stem Cells. Stem Cells Dev. 2009;18(6):907-17.

19. Gandia C, Arminan A, Garcia-Verdugo JM, Lledo E, Ruiz A, Minana MD, et al. Human dental pulp stem cells improve left ventricular function, induce angiogenesis, and reduce infarct size in rats with acute myocardial infarction. Stem Cells. 2008;26(3):638-45. 20. Iohara K, Zheng L, Wake H, Ito M, Nabekura J, Wakita H, et al. A novel stem cell source for vasculogenesis in ischemia: Subfraction of side population cells from dental pulp. Stem Cells. 2008;26(9):2408-18.

21. Yang R, Chen M, Lee CH, Yoon R, Lal S, Mao JJ. Clones of ectopic stem cells in the regeneration of muscle defects in vivo. PLoS One. 2010;5(10):e13547.

22. Apel C, Forlenza OV, de Paula VJ, Talib LL, Denecke B, Eduardo CP, et al. The neuroprotective effect of dental pulp cells in models of Alzheimer's and Parkinson's disease. J Neural Transm (Vienna). 2009;116(1):71-8.

23. Sakai K, Yamamoto A, Matsubara K, Nakamura S, Naruse M, Yamagata M, et al. Human dental pulp-derived stem cells promote locomotor recovery after complete transection of the rat spinal cord by multiple neuro-regenerative mechanisms. J Clin Invest. 2012;122(1):80-90.

24. Ishkitiev N, Yaegaki K, Imai T, Tanaka T, Nakahara T, Ishikawa H, et al. Highpurity hepatic lineage differentiated from dental pulp stem cells in serum-free medium. J Endod. 2012;38(4):475-80.

25. Fiegel HC, Lange C, Kneser U, Lambrecht W, Zander AR, Rogiers X, et al. Fetal and adult liver stem cells for liver regeneration and tissue engineering. J Cell Mol Med. 2006;10(3):577-87.

26. Carnevale G, Riccio M, Pisciotta A, Beretti F, Maraldi T, Zavatti M, et al. In vitro differentiation into insulin-producing beta-cells of stem cells isolated from human amniotic fluid and dental pulp. Dig Liver Dis. 2013;45(8):669-76.

27. Shilpa PS, Kaul R, Sultana N, Bhat S. Stem cells: Boon to dentistry and medicine. Dent Res J (Isfahan). 2013;10(2):149-54.

28. Rai S, Kaur M, Kaur S, Arora SP. Redefining the potential applications of dental stem cells: An asset for future. Indian J Hum Genet. 2012;18(3):276-84.

29. Mehrazarin S, Oh JE, Chung CL, Chen W, Kim RH, Shi S, et al. Impaired odontogenic differentiation of senescent dental mesenchymal stem cells is associated with loss of Bmi-1 expression. J Endod. 2011;37(5):662-6.

30. Liu L, Wei X, Ling J, Wu L, Xiao Y. Expression pattern of Oct-4, Sox2, and c-Myc in the primary culture of human dental pulp derived cells. J Endod. 2011;37(4):466-72. 31. Luo S, Lu YY, Liu LC, Yin YF, Chen CY, Han X, et al. Divergent lncRNAs Regulate Gene Expression and Lineage Differentiation in Pluripotent Cells. Cell Stem Cell. 2016;18(5):637-52.

32. Dixit R, Tachibana N, Touahri Y, Zinyk D, Logan C, Schuurmans C. Gene expression is dynamically regulated in retinal progenitor cells prior to and during overt cellular differentiation. Gene Expr Patterns. 2014;14(1):42-54.

33. Stein GS, Lian JB, Owen TA. Relationship of cell growth to the regulation of tissue-specific gene expression during osteoblast differentiation. FASEB J. 1990;4(13):3111-23.

34. Ralston A SK. Gene expression regulates cell differentiation. Nat Educ.2008;1(1):127-31.

35. Teven CM, Liu X, Hu N, Tang N, Kim SH, Huang E, et al. Epigenetic regulation of mesenchymal stem cells: a focus on osteogenic and adipogenic differentiation. Stem Cells Int. 2011;2011:201371.

36. Jaenisch R, Bird A. Epigenetic regulation of gene expression: how the genome integrates intrinsic and environmental signals. Nat Genet. 2003;33 Suppl:245-54.

37. Vincent A, Van Seuningen I. Epigenetics, stem cells and epithelial cell fate.Differentiation. 2009;78(2-3):99-107.

38. Hoffman AR, Hu JF. Directing DNA methylation to inhibit gene expression. Cell Mol Neurobiol. 2006;26(4-6):425-38.

39. Klose RJ, Bird AP. Genomic DNA methylation: the mark and its mediators. Trends Biochem Sci. 2006;31(2):89-97.

40. Turek-Plewa J, Jagodzinski PP. The role of mammalian DNA methyltransferases in the regulation of gene expression. Cell Mol Biol Lett. 2005;10(4):631-47.

41. Reik W, Howlett SK, Surani MA. Imprinting by DNA methylation: from transgenes to endogenous gene sequences. Dev Suppl. 1990:99-106.

42. Sapienza C, Peterson AC, Rossant J, Balling R. Degree of methylation of transgenes is dependent on gamete of origin. Nature. 1987;328(6127):251-4.

43. Razin A, Shemer R. DNA methylation in early development. Hum Mol Genet.1995;4 Spec No:1751-5.
44. Santos F, Dean W. Epigenetic reprogramming during early development in mammals. Reproduction. 2004;127(6):643-51.

45. Waterland RA, Kellermayer R, Rached MT, Tatevian N, Gomes MV, Zhang J, et al. Epigenomic profiling indicates a role for DNA methylation in early postnatal liver development. Hum Mol Genet. 2009;18(16):3026-38.

46. Bird A. DNA methylation patterns and epigenetic memory. Genes Dev. 2002;16(1):6-21.

47. Jaenisch R, Harbers K, Jahner D, Stewart C, Stuhlmann H. DNA methylation, retroviruses, and embryogenesis. J Cell Biochem. 1982;20(4):331-6.

48. Kochanek S, Renz D, Doerfler W. DNA methylation in the Alu sequences of diploid and haploid primary human cells. EMBO J. 1993;12(3):1141-51.

49. Schmid CW. Does SINE evolution preclude Alu function? Nucleic Acids Res. 1998;26(20):4541-50.

50. Mills RE, Bennett EA, Iskow RC, Devine SE. Which transposable elements are active in the human genome? Trends Genet. 2007;23(4):183-91.

51. Pheasant M, Mattick JS. Raising the estimate of functional human sequences. Genome Res. 2007;17(9):1245-53.

52. Deininger PL, Moran JV, Batzer MA, Kazazian HH, Jr. Mobile elements and mammalian genome evolution. Curr Opin Genet Dev. 2003;13(6):651-8.

53. Batzer MA, Deininger PL. Alu repeats and human genomic diversity. Nat Rev Genet. 2002;3(5):370-9.

54. Shen MR, Batzer MA, Deininger PL. Evolution of the master Alu gene(s). J Mol Evol. 1991;33(4):311-20.

55. Lander ES, Linton LM, Birren B, Nusbaum C, Zody MC, Baldwin J, et al. Initial sequencing and analysis of the human genome. Nature. 2001;409(6822):860-921.

56. Xie H, Wang M, Bonaldo Mde F, Smith C, Rajaram V, Goldman S, et al. Highthroughput sequence-based epigenomic analysis of Alu repeats in human cerebellum. Nucleic Acids Res. 2009;37(13):4331-40.

57. Wu HC, John EM, Ferris JS, Keegan TH, Chung WK, Andrulis I, et al. Global DNA methylation levels in girls with and without a family history of breast cancer. Epigenetics. 2011;6(1):29-33. 58. Park SY, Seo AN, Jung HY, Gwak JM, Jung N, Cho NY, et al. Alu and LINE-1 hypomethylation is associated with HER2 enriched subtype of breast cancer. PLoS One. 2014;9(6):e100429.

59. Bae JM, Shin SH, Kwon HJ, Park SY, Kook MC, Kim YW, et al. ALU and LINE-1 hypomethylations in multistep gastric carcinogenesis and their prognostic implications. Int J Cancer. 2012;131(6):1323-31.

60. Hou L, Wang H, Sartori S, Gawron A, Lissowska J, Bollati V, et al. Blood leukocyte DNA hypomethylation and gastric cancer risk in a high-risk Polish population. Int J Cancer. 2010;127(8):1866-74.

61. Fabris S, Bollati V, Agnelli L, Morabito F, Motta V, Cutrona G, et al. Biological and clinical relevance of quantitative global methylation of repetitive DNA sequences in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Epigenetics. 2011;6(2):188-94.

62. Tiwawech D, Srisuttee R, Rattanatanyong P, Puttipanyalears C, Kitkumthorn N, Mutirangura A. Alu methylation in serum from patients with nasopharyngeal carcinoma. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev. 2014;15(22):9797-800.

Jintaridth P, Tungtrongchitr R, Preutthipan S, Mutirangura A. Hypomethylation of Alu elements in post-menopausal women with osteoporosis. PLoS One.
2013;8(8):e70386.

64. Rerkasem K, Rattanatanyong P, Rerkasem A, Wongthanee A,

Rungruengthanakit K, Mangklabruks A, et al. Higher Alu methylation levels in catch-up growth in twenty-year-old offsprings. PLoS One. 2015;10(3):e0120032.

65. Bollati V, Schwartz J, Wright R, Litonjua A, Tarantini L, Suh H, et al. Decline in genomic DNA methylation through aging in a cohort of elderly subjects. Mech Ageing Dev. 2009;130(4):234-9.

66. Jintaridth P, Mutirangura A. Distinctive patterns of age-dependent hypomethylation in interspersed repetitive sequences. Physiol Genomics. 2010;41(2):194-200.

67. Fukada S, Ma Y, Uezumi A. Adult stem cell and mesenchymal progenitor theories of aging. Front Cell Dev Biol. 2014;2:10.

68. Watt FM, Hogan BL. Out of Eden: stem cells and their niches. Science.2000;287(5457):1427-30.

69. Pittenger MF, Mackay AM, Beck SC, Jaiswal RK, Douglas R, Mosca JD, et al. Multilineage potential of adult human mesenchymal stem cells. Science. 1999;284(5411):143-7.

Friedenstein AJ, Chailakhyan RK, Latsinik NV, Panasyuk AF, Keiliss-Borok IV.
 Stromal cells responsible for transferring the microenvironment of the hemopoietic tissues. Cloning in vitro and retransplantation in vivo. Transplantation. 1974;17(4):331-40.

71. Bianco P, Robey PG, Simmons PJ. Mesenchymal stem cells: revisiting history, concepts, and assays. Cell Stem Cell. 2008;2(4):313-9.

72. Salem HK, Thiemermann C. Mesenchymal stromal cells: current understanding and clinical status. Stem Cells. 2010;28(3):585-96.

73. Egusa H, Sonoyama W, Nishimura M, Atsuta I, Akiyama K. Stem cells in dentistry--part I: stem cell sources. J Prosthodont Res. 2012;56(3):151-65.

74. Estrela C, Alencar AH, Kitten GT, Vencio EF, Gava E. Mesenchymal stem cells
in the dental tissues: perspectives for tissue regeneration. Braz Dent J. 2011;22(2):918.

75. Kharaziha P, Hellstrom PM, Noorinayer B, Farzaneh F, Aghajani K, Jafari F, et al. Improvement of liver function in liver cirrhosis patients after autologous mesenchymal stem cell injection: a phase I-II clinical trial. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2009;21(10):1199-205.

76. Peng L, Xie DY, Lin BL, Liu J, Zhu HP, Xie C, et al. Autologous bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell transplantation in liver failure patients caused by hepatitis B: short-term and long-term outcomes. Hepatology. 2011;54(3):820-8.

77. Rasulov MF, Vasilchenkov AV, Onishchenko NA, Krasheninnikov ME, Kravchenko VI, Gorshenin TL, et al. First experience of the use bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells for the treatment of a patient with deep skin burns. Bull Exp Biol Med. 2005;139(1):141-4.

78. Lu D, Chen B, Liang Z, Deng W, Jiang Y, Li S, et al. Comparison of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells with bone marrow-derived mononuclear cells for treatment of diabetic critical limb ischemia and foot ulcer: a double-blind, randomized, controlled trial. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2011;92(1):26-36.

79. Roddy GW, Oh JY, Lee RH, Bartosh TJ, Ylostalo J, Coble K, et al. Action at a distance: systemically administered adult stem/progenitor cells (MSCs) reduce inflammatory damage to the cornea without engraftment and primarily by secretion of TNF-alpha stimulated gene/protein 6. Stem Cells. 2011;29(10):1572-9.

80. Lee RH, Pulin AA, Seo MJ, Kota DJ, Ylostalo J, Larson BL, et al. Intravenous hMSCs improve myocardial infarction in mice because cells embolized in lung are activated to secrete the anti-inflammatory protein TSG-6. Cell Stem Cell. 2009;5(1):54-63.

81. Ortiz LA, Dutreil M, Fattman C, Pandey AC, Torres G, Go K, et al. Interleukin 1 receptor antagonist mediates the antiinflammatory and antifibrotic effect of mesenchymal stem cells during lung injury. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2007;104(26):11002-7.

82. Zeng X, Zeng YS, Ma YH, Lu LY, Du BL, Zhang W, et al. Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells in a three-dimensional gelatin sponge scaffold attenuate inflammation, promote angiogenesis, and reduce cavity formation in experimental spinal cord injury. Cell Transplant. 2011;20(11-12):1881-99.

83. Ciccocioppo R, Bernardo ME, Sgarella A, Maccario R, Avanzini MA, Ubezio C, et al. Autologous bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stromal cells in the treatment of fistulising Crohn's disease. Gut. 2011;60(6):788-98.

84. Sun L, Wang D, Liang J, Zhang H, Feng X, Wang H, et al. Umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cell transplantation in severe and refractory systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Rheum. 2010;62(8):2467-75.

85. Prasad VK, Lucas KG, Kleiner GI, Talano JA, Jacobsohn D, Broadwater G, et al.
Efficacy and safety of ex vivo cultured adult human mesenchymal stem cells
(Prochymal) in pediatric patients with severe refractory acute graft-versus-host
disease in a compassionate use study. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2011;17(4):53441.

86. Le Blanc K, Frassoni F, Ball L, Locatelli F, Roelofs H, Lewis I, et al. Mesenchymal stem cells for treatment of steroid-resistant, severe, acute graft-versushost disease: a phase II study. Lancet. 2008;371(9624):1579-86. 87. Lee PH, Kim JW, Bang OY, Ahn YH, Joo IS, Huh K. Autologous mesenchymal stem cell therapy delays the progression of neurological deficits in patients with multiple system atrophy. Clin Pharmacol Ther. 2008;83(5):723-30.

88. Karussis D, Karageorgiou C, Vaknin-Dembinsky A, Gowda-Kurkalli B, Gomori JM, Kassis I, et al. Safety and immunological effects of mesenchymal stem cell transplantation in patients with multiple sclerosis and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Arch Neurol. 2010;67(10):1187-94.

89. Honmou O, Houkin K, Matsunaga T, Niitsu Y, Ishiai S, Onodera R, et al. Intravenous administration of auto serum-expanded autologous mesenchymal stem cells in stroke. Brain. 2011;134(Pt 6):1790-807.

90. Kebriaei P, Isola L, Bahceci E, Holland K, Rowley S, McGuirk J, et al. Adult human mesenchymal stem cells added to corticosteroid therapy for the treatment of acute graft-versus-host disease. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2009;15(7):804-11.

91. Gronthos S, Mankani M, Brahim J, Robey PG, Shi S. Postnatal human dental pulp stem cells (DPSCs) in vitro and in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2000;97(25):13625-30.

92. Suchanek J, Soukup T, Ivancakova R, Karbanova J, Hubkova V, Pytlik R, et al. Human dental pulp stem cells--isolation and long term cultivation. Acta Medica (Hradec Kralove). 2007;50(3):195-201.

93. Perry BC, Zhou D, Wu X, Yang FC, Byers MA, Chu TM, et al. Collection, cryopreservation, and characterization of human dental pulp-derived mesenchymal stem cells for banking and clinical use. Tissue Eng Part C Methods. 2008;14(2):149-56.

94. Zhang W, Walboomers XF, Shi S, Fan M, Jansen JA. Multilineage differentiation potential of stem cells derived from human dental pulp after cryopreservation. Tissue Eng. 2006;12(10):2813-23.

95. Zhang W, Walboomers XF, van Kuppevelt TH, Daamen WF, Bian Z, Jansen JA. The performance of human dental pulp stem cells on different three-dimensional scaffold materials. Biomaterials. 2006;27(33):5658-68.

96. Govindasamy V, Ronald VS, Abdullah AN, Nathan KRG, Aziz ZACA, Abdullah M, et al. Differentiation of Dental Pulp Stem Cells into Islet-like Aggregates. J Dent Res. 2011;90(5):646-52.

97. Seo BM, Miura M, Gronthos S, Bartold PM, Batouli S, Brahim J, et al.

Investigation of multipotent postnatal stem cells from human periodontal ligament. Lancet. 2004;364(9429):149-55.

98. Hiraga T, Ninomiya T, Hosoya A, Takahashi M, Nakamura H. Formation of bone-like mineralized matrix by periodontal ligament cells in vivo: a morphological study in rats. J Bone Miner Metab. 2009;27(2):149-57.

99. Cabral MC, Costa MA, Fernandes MH. In vitro models of periodontal cells: a comparative study of long-term gingival, periodontal ligament and alveolar bone cell cultures in the presence of beta-glycerophosphate and dexamethasone. J Mater Sci Mater Med. 2007;18(6):1079-88.

100. Lopez-Otin C, Blasco MA, Partridge L, Serrano M, Kroemer G. The hallmarks of aging. Cell. 2013;153(6):1194-217.

101. Di Benedetto A, Carbone C, Mori G. Dental pulp stem cells isolation and osteogenic differentiation: a good promise for tissue engineering. Methods Mol Biol. 2014;1210:117-30.

102. Chadipiralla K, Yochim JM, Bahuleyan B, Huang CY, Garcia-Godoy F, Murray PE, et al. Osteogenic differentiation of stem cells derived from human periodontal ligaments and pulp of human exfoliated deciduous teeth. Cell Tissue Res. 2010;340(2):323-33.

103. Laino G, Carinci F, Graziano A, d'Aquino R, Lanza V, De Rosa A, et al. In vitro bone production using stem cells derived from human dental pulp. J Craniofac Surg. 2006;17(3):511-5.

104. d'Aquino R, De Rosa A, Lanza V, Tirino V, Laino L, Graziano A, et al. Human mandible bone defect repair by the grafting of dental pulp stem/progenitor cells and collagen sponge biocomplexes. Eur Cell Mater. 2009;18:75-83.

105. Graziano A, d'Aquino R, Laino G, Proto A, Giuliano MT, Pirozzi G, et al. Human CD34+ stem cells produce bone nodules in vivo. Cell Prolif. 2008;41(1):1-11.

106. Harman D. Aging: a theory based on free radical and radiation chemistry. J Gerontol. 1956;11(3):298-300.

107. Vaziri H, Benchimol S. From telomere loss to p53 induction and activation of a DNA-damage pathway at senescence: the telomere loss/DNA damage model of cell aging. Exp Gerontol. 1996;31(1-2):295-301.

108. von Zglinicki T. Oxidative stress shortens telomeres. Trends Biochem Sci. 2002;27(7):339-44.

109. Nishimura EK, Granter SR, Fisher DE. Mechanisms of hair graying: incomplete melanocyte stem cell maintenance in the niche. Science. 2005;307(5710):720-4.

110. Nishimura EK. Melanocyte stem cells: a melanocyte reservoir in hair follicles for hair and skin pigmentation. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res. 2011;24(3):401-10.

111. Pang WW, Price EA, Sahoo D, Beerman I, Maloney WJ, Rossi DJ, et al. Human bone marrow hematopoietic stem cells are increased in frequency and myeloidbiased with age. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2011;108(50):20012-7.

112. Linton PJ, Dorshkind K. Age-related changes in lymphocyte development and function. Nat Immunol. 2004;5(2):133-9.

113. Morrison SJ, Wandycz AM, Akashi K, Globerson A, Weissman IL. The aging of hematopoietic stem cells. Nat Med. 1996;2(9):1011-6.

114. Kadi F, Charifi N, Denis C, Lexell J. Satellite cells and myonuclei in young and elderly women and men. Muscle Nerve. 2004;29(1):120-7.

115. Collins CA, Zammit PS, Ruiz AP, Morgan JE, Partridge TA. A population of myogenic stem cells that survives skeletal muscle aging. Stem Cells. 2007;25(4):885-94.

116. Probst AV, Dunleavy E, Almouzni G. Epigenetic inheritance during the cell cycle. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2009;10(3):192-206.

117. Waddington CH. The epigenotype. 1942. Int J Epidemiol. 2012;41(1):10-3.

118. Feinberg AP. Phenotypic plasticity and the epigenetics of human disease. Nature. 2007;447(7143):433-40.

119. Esteller M. Epigenetics in cancer. N Engl J Med. 2008;358(11):1148-59.

120. Skinner MK. Role of epigenetics in developmental biology and transgenerational inheritance. Birth Defects Res C Embryo Today. 2011;93(1):51-5.

121. Jones PA, Takai D. The role of DNA methylation in mammalian epigenetics. Science. 2001;293(5532):1068-70. 122. Hermann A, Gowher H, Jeltsch A. Biochemistry and biology of mammalian DNA methyltransferases. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2004;61(19-20):2571-87.

123. Turker MS, Bestor TH. Formation of methylation patterns in the mammalian genome. Mutat Res. 1997;386(2):119-30.

124. Grainger RM, Hazard-Leonards RM, Samaha F, Hougan LM, Lesk MR, Thomsen GH. Is hypomethylation linked to activation of delta-crystallin genes during lens development? Nature. 1983;306(5938):88-91.

125. Hershko AY, Kafri T, Fainsod A, Razin A. Methylation of HoxA5 and HoxB5 and its relevance to expression during mouse development. Gene. 2003;302(1-2):65-72.

126. Gidekel S, Bergman Y. A unique developmental pattern of Oct-3/4 DNA methylation is controlled by a cis-demodification element. J Biol Chem.
2002;277(37):34521-30.

127. Zhang FF, Cardarelli R, Carroll J, Zhang S, Fulda KG, Gonzalez K, et al. Physical activity and global genomic DNA methylation in a cancer-free population. Epigenetics. 2011;6(3):293-9.

128. Laird PW. Cancer epigenetics. Hum Mol Genet. 2005;14 Spec No 1:R65-76.

129. Lund G, Andersson L, Lauria M, Lindholm M, Fraga MF, Villar-Garea A, et al. DNA methylation polymorphisms precede any histological sign of atherosclerosis in mice lacking apolipoprotein E. J Biol Chem. 2004;279(28):29147-54.

130. Gonzalo S. Epigenetic alterations in aging. J Appl Physiol (1985).2010;109(2):586-97.

131. Yang AS, Estecio MR, Doshi K, Kondo Y, Tajara EH, Issa JP. A simple method for estimating global DNA methylation using bisulfite PCR of repetitive DNA elements. Nucleic Acids Res. 2004;32(3):e38.

132. Weisenberger DJ, Campan M, Long TI, Kim M, Woods C, Fiala E, et al. Analysis of repetitive element DNA methylation by MethyLight. Nucleic Acids Res. 2005;33(21):6823-36.

133. Jocelyn E. Krebs ESG, Stephen T. Kilpatrick. Lewin's GENES XII. Barlington, MA: Jones & Barlett Learning; 2017 2 Mar 2017.

134. Jurka J, Kapitonov VV, Kohany O, Jurka MV. Repetitive sequences in complex genomes: structure and evolution. Annu Rev Genomics Hum Genet. 2007;8:241-59.

135. Slotkin RK, Martienssen R. Transposable elements and the epigenetic regulation of the genome. Nat Rev Genet. 2007;8(4):272-85.

136. Smit AF. Interspersed repeats and other mementos of transposable elements in mammalian genomes. Curr Opin Genet Dev. 1999;9(6):657-63.

137. Schmid CW, Deininger PL. Sequence organization of the human genome. Cell. 1975;6(3):345-58.

138. Dewannieux M, Esnault C, Heidmann T. LINE-mediated retrotransposition of marked Alu sequences. Nat Genet. 2003;35(1):41-8.

139. Englander EW, Wolffe AP, Howard BH. Nucleosome interactions with a human Alu element. Transcriptional repression and effects of template methylation. J Biol Chem. 1993;268(26):19565-73.

140. Liu WM, Schmid CW. Proposed roles for DNA methylation in Alu transcriptional repression and mutational inactivation. Nucleic Acids Res. 1993;21(6):1351-9.

141. Khodosevich K, Lebedev Y, Sverdlov E. Endogenous retroviruses and human evolution. Comp Funct Genomics. 2002;3(6):494-8.

142. Dewannieux M, Heidmann T. Role of poly(A) tail length in Alu retrotransposition. Genomics. 2005;86(3):378-81.

143. Woodcock DM, Lawler CB, Linsenmeyer ME, Doherty JP, Warren WD.Asymmetric methylation in the hypermethylated CpG promoter region of the humanL1 retrotransposon. J Biol Chem. 1997;272(12):7810-6.

144. Liu WM, Maraia RJ, Rubin CM, Schmid CW. Alu transcripts: cytoplasmic
localisation and regulation by DNA methylation. Nucleic Acids Res. 1994;22(6):108795.

145. Yoder JA, Walsh CP, Bestor TH. Cytosine methylation and the ecology of intragenomic parasites. Trends Genet. 1997;13(8):335-40.

146. Bird AP. Gene number, noise reduction and biological complexity. Trends Genet. 1995;11(3):94-100.

147. Nakkuntod J, Avihingsanon Y, Mutirangura A, Hirankarn N. Hypomethylation of LINE-1 but not Alu in lymphocyte subsets of systemic lupus erythematosus patients. Clin Chim Acta. 2011;412(15-16):1457-61.

148. Zhao J, Goldberg J, Bremner JD, Vaccarino V. Global DNA methylation is associated with insulin resistance: a monozygotic twin study. Diabetes. 2012;61(2):542-6.

149. Walters RJ, Williamson EJ, English DR, Young JP, Rosty C, Clendenning M, et al. Association between hypermethylation of DNA repetitive elements in white blood cell DNA and early-onset colorectal cancer. Epigenetics. 2013;8(7):748-55.

150. Kim M, Long TI, Arakawa K, Wang R, Yu MC, Laird PW. DNA methylation as a biomarker for cardiovascular disease risk. PLoS One. 2010;5(3):e9692.

151. Wu H, Sun YE. Epigenetic regulation of stem cell differentiation. Pediatr Res. 2006;59(4 Pt 2):21R-5R.

152. Reik W. Stability and flexibility of epigenetic gene regulation in mammalian development. Nature. 2007;447(7143):425-32.

153. Loh YH, Wu Q, Chew JL, Vega VB, Zhang W, Chen X, et al. The Oct4 and Nanog transcription network regulates pluripotency in mouse embryonic stem cells. Nat Genet. 2006;38(4):431-40.

154. Barrand S, Collas P. Chromatin states of core pluripotency-associated genes in pluripotent, multipotent and differentiated cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2010;391(1):762-7.

155. Sorensen AL, Timoskainen S, West FD, Vekterud K, Boquest AC, Ahrlund-Richter L, et al. Lineage-specific promoter DNA methylation patterns segregate adult progenitor cell types. Stem Cells Dev. 2010;19(8):1257-66.

156. Bibikova M, Chudin E, Wu B, Zhou L, Garcia EW, Liu Y, et al. Human embryonic stem cells have a unique epigenetic signature. Genome Res. 2006;16(9):1075-83.

157. Bork S, Pfister S, Witt H, Horn P, Korn B, Ho AD, et al. DNA methylation pattern changes upon long-term culture and aging of human mesenchymal stromal cells. Aging Cell. 2010;9(1):54-63.

158. Li L, Zhu YQ, Jiang L, Peng W. Increased autophagic activity in senescent human dental pulp cells. Int Endod J. 2012;45(12):1074-9.

159. Schellenberg A, Lin Q, Schuler H, Koch CM, Joussen S, Denecke B, et al. Replicative senescence of mesenchymal stem cells causes DNA-methylation changes which correlate with repressive histone marks. Aging (Albany NY). 2011;3(9):873-88. 160. Alraies A, Alaidaroos NY, Waddington RJ, Moseley R, Sloan AJ. Variation in human dental pulp stem cell ageing profiles reflect contrasting proliferative and regenerative capabilities. BMC Cell Biol. 2017;18(1):12.

161. Mokry J, Soukup T, Micuda S, Karbanova J, Visek B, Brcakova E, et al.Telomere attrition occurs during ex vivo expansion of human dental pulp stem cells.J Biomed Biotechnol. 2010;2010:673513.

162. Wilson VL, Smith RA, Ma S, Cutler RG. Genomic 5-methyldeoxycytidine decreases with age. J Biol Chem. 1987;262(21):9948-51.

163. Daskalos A, Nikolaidis G, Xinarianos G, Savvari P, Cassidy A, Zakopoulou R, et al. Hypomethylation of retrotransposable elements correlates with genomic instability in non-small cell lung cancer. Int J Cancer. 2009;124(1):81-7.



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University Name: Captain Atitaya Vongprommool

Date of birth: 2 July 1985

Place of birth: Bangkok, Thailand

Education: Doctor of Dental Surgery (Second-class Honors), Chulalongkorn University, Thailand (2011)

Work Experience: General dentist at Medical Division, Armed Forces Academy Preparatory School, National Defence Studies Institute, Royal Thai Armed Forces Headquarters (2012-2014) National Defence Studies Institute (2015present)

จุฬาสงกรณมหาวทยาลย Chulalongkorn University

VITA